Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: May 30, 2019 ACCEPTED: July 15, 2019 PUBLISHED: July 26, 2019

Large N renormalization group flows in 3d $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Chern-Simons-Matter theories

Ofer Aharony and Adar Sharon

Department of Particle Physics and Astrophysics, Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot 7610001, Israel

E-mail: Ofer.Aharony@weizmann.ac.il, adar.sharon@weizmann.ac.il

ABSTRACT: We discuss $3d \mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric SU(N) and U(N) Chern-Simons-matter theories, with N_f matter superfields in the fundamental representation of SU(N) or U(N). In the large N 't Hooft limit with fixed 't Hooft coupling λ these theories have one (for $N_f = 1$) or two (for $N_f > 1$) exactly marginal deformations in the superpotential. At finite N these couplings acquire a beta function. We compute the beta function exactly for $\lambda = 0$, at leading order in 1/N. For $N_f = 1$ we find four fixed points, one of which is triply-degenerate. We show that at large N there are at most six fixed points for any λ , and conjecture that there are exactly six, with three of them stable (including a point with enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry). The strong-weak coupling dualities of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Chern-Simons-matter theories map each of these fixed points to a dual one. We show that at large N the phase structure near each of the three stable fixed points is different. For $N_f > 1$ we analyze the fixed points at weak coupling, and we work out the action of the strong-weak coupling duality on the marginal and relevant superpotential couplings at large N (which was previously known only for $N_f = 1$). In addition, we compute in these theories the 2-point and 3-point functions of the lowest gauge-invariant singlet superfield at large N, for all values of λ and of the superpotential couplings, and use them to test the large N dualities. This computation is one of the ingredients needed for a computation of the beta function at order 1/N for all λ , which we leave for future work. We also discuss Chern-Simons-matter theories with extra Hubbard-Stratonovich type singlet fields, and suggest dualities between them.

KEYWORDS: 1/N Expansion, Duality in Gauge Field Theories, Renormalization Group, Chern-Simons Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 1905.07146





Contents

1	Introduction and summary				
	1.1	.1 Main results of this paper			
n	Doc	dramound	F		
4	Dackground				
	2.1	$2.1.1$ One matter field $(N_{\rm e} = 1)$	5		
		2.1.1 One matter fields $(N_f = 1)$	0 6		
	2.2	General form of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric correlation functions	0 7		
3	The	Provide Beta function at $\lambda = 0$ for $N_c = 1$	8		
U	2 1	Classification of diagrams contributing to Φ^4 at large N	8		
	0.1 २ १	Calculation of Bota and Camma functions	0		
	5.2	3.2.1 Additional correlators	9 11		
		3.2.2 Summary	11		
		3.2.2 Summary	10		
4	First steps towards the Beta function at $\lambda \neq 0$				
	4.1	General considerations	14		
	4.2	Correlation functions of $J = \bar{\Phi} \Phi$	16		
		4.2.1 Four-point function of Φ at large N	17		
		4.2.2 Computation of $\langle J\bar{\Phi}\Phi \rangle$	17		
		4.2.3 Computation of $\langle JJ \rangle$	19		
		4.2.4 Computation of $\langle JJJ \rangle$	21		
		4.2.5 Discussion	22		
	4.3	Beta function for $\lambda \neq 0$	23		
		4.3.1 (b)-type diagram	24		
	4.4	Summary	25		
5	Qua	alitative behavior of $N_f=1$ fixed points for $\lambda eq 0$	25		
	5.1	Upper bound on number of fixed points	26		
	5.2	Exact results and conjecture	28		
	5.3	Phase diagram	31		
	5.4	Discussion of dualities and exact moduli spaces	33		
6	Theories with $N_f > 1$				
	6.1	6.1 Duality			
		6.1.1 Gap equations in unHiggsed phase	37		
		6.1.2 Correlation functions of $\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{J}_{ij}$	37		
	6.2	Beta and Gamma functions for $\lambda = 0$	38		
		6.2.1 Leading order: chains	38		
		6.2.2 Subleading order: $(a)-(e)$ diagrams	39		
		6.2.3 Gamma function	39		

		6.2.4	Beta functions	40
		6.2.5	Generalization to finite λ and discussion	40
\mathbf{A}	Con	ventio	ns	43
	A.1	Lorent	zian	43
	A.2	Euclid	ean	44
	A.3 Superspace conventions		44	
	A.4	Chern	-Simons levels	45
в	Calculating the (a) – (e) diagrams			45
	B.1	Quick	introduction to $3d \mathcal{N} = 1$ supergraphs	45
	B.2	Comm	ents on the calculations	46
	B.3	Calcul	ation of the diagrams	47
		B.3.1	Type (a)	47
		B.3.2	Type (b)	48
		B.3.3	Type (c)	49
		B.3.4	Type (d)	49
		B.3.5	Type (e)	49
\mathbf{C}	Con	jectur	e for the $\mathcal{N}=1$ version of Maldacena-Zhiboedov	50
D	D The gap equations for $N_f > 1$ 55			

1 Introduction and summary

Gauge theories in 2 + 1 dimensions exhibit rich dynamics, and in many cases flow to interesting fixed points, some of which appear in condensed matter applications. When the theories are not parity-invariant, generically the low-energy physics may be described as a Chern-Simons-matter theory. In recent years it was found that in many cases different gauge theories flow to the same conformal Chern-Simons-matter (CS-matter) theory at low energies, so that they are IR-dual. For theories with $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry (SUSY) this duality [1–4] is similar to Seiberg dualities that were found in other dimensions, and indeed the duality may be related to the 4*d* duality by compactification on a circle [3]. However, in 3*d* dualities of this type appear also with no supersymmetry, or with $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry.

In this paper we study the dynamics of $3d \mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric CS-matter theories, with U(N) and SU(N) gauge groups and with N_f matter superfields Φ in the fundamental representation. The dynamics of these theories is more subtle than that of $\mathcal{N} = 0$ CSfermion theories, or of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ CS-matter theories, because they have classically marginal deformations corresponding to $W = \omega |\Phi|^4$ terms in their superpotential (there is one such deformation for $N_f = 1$, and two for $N_f > 1$). They are similar in this respect to $\mathcal{N} = 0$ CS-scalar theories recently studied in [5], except that in the CS-scalar case, where there is a classically marginal ϕ^6 interaction, there is also a ϕ^4 interaction which generically dominates the renormalization group (RG) flow, so that two fine-tunings are required for the ϕ^6 interaction to be important in the IR; in our $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories only the mass needs to be fine-tuned to zero.

When the Chern-Simons level is non-zero, the coupling ω is generated even if it is not present at high energies, and its flow must be analyzed to understand the IR dynamics. For weak gauge coupling (large CS level) there are non-trivial weakly coupled fixed points for ω near the origin [6, 7], but nothing is known about the behavior when the gauge coupling or the superpotential couplings are strong. In this paper we analyze the dynamics in the 't Hooft large N limit, of large N and large Chern-Simons level with a fixed 't Hooft coupling λ , where many computations can be explicitly performed (using methods developed in [8– 17]). We will see that there are several different fixed points for the marginal couplings at finite large values of N.

In general, unlike higher supersymmetries, $3d \mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry does not enable any exact computations to be performed, and does not provide many constraints on the dynamics. In particular the superpotential is not protected from quantum corrections. The main constraint is that supersymmetric vacua always have zero energy density, so that phase transitions between them are always of second order rather than first order. In some special cases, the combination of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry with extra symmetries (in particular time-reversal invariance) may be used to show the existence of exact moduli spaces of vacua [18, 19], and these will arise also in some of the theories that we will discuss. See [15, 20–26] for some recent investigations of $3d \mathcal{N} = 1$ CS-matter theories.

Another motivation for studying $3d \mathcal{N} = 1$ CS-matter theories is that these theories can appear at low energies on BPS domain walls of $4d \mathcal{N} = 1$ theories, such as supersymmetric QCD [27, 28]. A priori it is not clear which value of the marginal superpotential couplings arises in this context, but in some cases the phase structure near the IR fixed points of the domain wall theory may be understood from 4d. As we will discuss, this may be enough to determine which IR fixed point for the marginal couplings arises.

Various dualities have been suggested in the literature for nonabelian $\mathcal{N} = 1$ CSmatter theories with matter in the fundamental representation (see, for instance, [14, 21, 22, 25]). At large N their form is precisely known and they are supported by many computations, at least for $N_f = 1$ [14, 15, 26]. However, at finite N the evidence for them is mostly circumstantial (identifying symmetries, anomalies and phase structures), and their formulation is not precise since the flow of the marginal couplings was not discussed. For infinite N, these marginal couplings are actually exactly marginal, so there is a large family of CFTs, and a non-trivial action of duality on this family. For $N_f = 1$ this was analyzed in [14], and we generalize this analysis to $N_f > 1$ here. For finite N, in order to specify a duality, one has to specify which fixed point of the marginal couplings it applies to. For large values of N we will use our large N analysis of the beta function to classify these fixed points, and to make precise conjectures about their duality relations.

In addition to the simplest CS-matter theories, it is natural to consider also theories with additional singlet fields H coupled to $|\Phi|^2$ through $W = H|\Phi|^2$ -type superpotentials; such descriptions are useful in particular for analyzing the limits where the $|\Phi|^4$ coupling becomes large. We use the formalisms with extra singlet fields to argue that infinite values for the coupling ω are actually at finite distance away, so that the space of couplings of these theories is naturally compact (for $N_f = 1$ it is a circle, and for $N_f > 1$ a torus). For infinite N the theories with additional singlets are manifestly equivalent to the original CS-matter theories, but for finite N they are not, and we conjecture that, at least for large N, they provide IR-dual descriptions of these theories.

In the first part of this paper we consider theories with a single matter superfield $(N_f = 1)$. These theories have a single classically marginal operator, for which we attempt to calculate the beta function in the 't Hooft large N limit. We begin in section 2 by formulating our theories, and describing the general form of correlation functions in $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superspace. In section 3 we compute this beta function at order 1/N for $\lambda = 0$, namely in a large $N W = \omega |\Phi|^4$ theory, and we show that it has four fixed points. For $\lambda \neq 0$ we could not compute the beta function exactly, but we discuss some of the steps towards computing it in section 4, and we show in section 5 that there are (for large N) six fixed points for small λ , and at most six fixed points for all values of λ . Using the duality and some additional symmetry arguments, we then provide a conjecture for the qualitative form of the fixed points of these theories for all λ (see figure 13). Our results are analogous to the results recently found for the $\mathcal{N} = 0$ CS-scalar theories ('quasi-bosonic theories') in [5].

The calculation of the beta function at order 1/N requires the two, three and fourpoint functions of the operator $J = \bar{\Phi} \Phi$ at leading order in 1/N, as well as its anomalous dimension (at order 1/N). We calculate the two and three-point functions explicitly at large N, as a function of λ and of the marginal couplings (some of these results were found independently by the authors of [29]). These are duality-invariant, providing further evidence for the dualities. In addition, the three-point function allows us to conjecture (in appendix C) a possible generalization of the results of Maldacena and Zhiboedov [30] to $3d \mathcal{N} = 1$ theories with almost-conserved high-spin symmetries; it would be interesting to confirm this conjecture by directly generalizing their analysis to the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ case.

We can relate our results to many ideas appearing in the literature; in particular, we discuss their relation to previous statements about dualities in $\mathcal{N} = 1$ CS-matter theories. Our results provide further evidence for some conjectures of theories with emergent $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY (in particular, in the context of domain walls of $4d \mathcal{N} = 1 N_f = 1$ SQCD [28]). In addition, we find a series of theories with a fixed point with emergent time-reversal symmetry, where the fixed point theory has an exact moduli space even at finite N.

In section 6 we discuss theories with $N_f > 1$. We start by finding the duality transformation at infinite N for these theories (which is a generalization of the duality transformation found in [14] for the case $N_f = 1$). We then find the beta functions for the two classically marginal operators for $\lambda = 0$ at order 1/N. We can generalize some of the fixed points to finite but small λ as well, and the duality then gives some of the fixed points for λ close to 1. Again we find examples of theories with emergent time-reversal symmetry, some of which have an exact moduli space even at finite N.

There are various open questions left by our analysis. It would be interesting to complete the computation of the beta function for $\lambda \neq 0$ at leading order in 1/N. As we

discuss in the paper, one thing this requires is control of the 4-point function $\langle JJJJ \rangle$ away from co-linear momenta, along the lines of recent investigations for non-supersymmetric theories in [31]. It also requires computing some additional correlation function (beyond the 2-point function), including at least one J, at subleading order in 1/N, which should be possible (though technically complicated) by generalizing our analysis.

We discuss the phase structure of the fixed points that we find for $N_f = 1$ (using known results from [26]), and it should be possible to understand it by similar methods also for $N_f > 1$. It should be possible to study other large N theories, such as ones with orthogonal, symplectic or product gauge groups, by similar methods, and to understand their dynamics and fixed points.

Last but not least, it would be interesting to find methods to analyze the fixed points away from the large N limit, but it is not clear at the moment how to do this. For $N_f > 1$, some of the fixed points we discuss can be obtained by an RG flow starting from the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories with the same matter content, so the known $\mathcal{N} = 2$ dualities (which are well-established also for finite N) imply their validity.¹ This is known to be true for large enough N, and it would be nice to understand if it is true also for small N, or if the fixed points and the flows between them are modified. For other fixed points, and for the $N_f = 1$ case, it is not clear how to flow to the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ fixed points from theories with higher supersymmetry, and it would be interesting to study this.

1.1 Main results of this paper

This paper presents results which have implications to different areas of research, and since it is quite long, we now summarize our main results.

- The main result of this paper is the analysis of the RG flows of $3d \mathcal{N} = 1$ CS-matter theories in the 't Hooft limit at leading order in 1/N. We compute the beta functions of the marginal couplings exactly for $\lambda = 0$, in section 3 for $N_f = 1$, and in section 6 for $N_f > 1$, and use this to obtain the fixed points at small λ . For $N_f = 1$ we find a bound on the number of fixed points for all λ , and present a conjecture for the qualitative form of the RG flows at general λ in figure 13.
- For infinite N and $N_f > 1$ there is for each λ a family of CFTs labeled by two exactly marginal superpotential terms. In section 6.1 we find how duality acts on these families of CFTs, generalizing the $N_f = 1$ duality transformation found in [14].
- We compute the two and three-point correlation functions of the operator $J = \bar{\Phi} \Phi$ at leading order in 1/N in the 't Hooft limit, for all values of the marginal couplings. The results are presented in section 4.2. The result for the three-point function leads us to conjecture an extension of the results of Maldacena and Zhiboedov [30] to supersymmetric three-point functions of approximately-conserved higher-spin currents. The extension (and a discussion of the evidence for this conjecture) appears in appendix C.

¹The corresponding flow is much simpler than the ones connecting $\mathcal{N} = 2$ dualities to $\mathcal{N} = 0$ dualities [5, 14], since no fields need to acquire a mass. For $N_f = 1$ the deformations away from the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ fixed point are irrelevant, at least for large N, so there is no such flow.

• Combining calculations in the large-N limit with finite-N results, we conjecture that the CS-matter theories appearing in equation (5.29) all have exact moduli spaces at a specific fixed point.

2 Background

2.1 Lagrangian and duality

In Euclidean space, the action for 2+1d $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric U(N) Chern-Simons theory² coupled to N_f fundamental matter fields is [7, 32]

$$S = \int d^3x d^2\theta \left(\mathcal{L}_{\rm CS} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm matter} \right).$$
 (2.1)

Our superspace conventions are summarized in appendix A. In terms of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superfields, the Chern-Simons term for the gauge field is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm CS} = -\frac{\kappa}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr} \left(-\frac{1}{4} D_{\alpha} \Gamma^{\beta} D_{\beta} \Gamma^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{6} D^{\alpha} \Gamma^{\beta} \{ \Gamma_{\alpha}, \Gamma_{\beta} \} - \frac{1}{24} \{ \Gamma^{\alpha}, \Gamma^{\beta} \} \{ \Gamma_{\alpha}, \Gamma_{\beta} \} \right).$$
(2.2)

In components, the action of the gauge field becomes

$$\mathscr{L}_{\rm CS} = -\frac{\kappa}{2\pi} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} {\rm Tr} \left(A_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} A_{\rho} - \frac{2i}{3} A_{\mu} A_{\nu} A_{\rho} \right), \qquad (2.3)$$

while the gaugino is an auxiliary field with no kinetic term, which we can integrate out. Our conventions for the Chern-Simons level are summarized in appendix A.

We now discuss the additional matter term $\mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}}$. We separate the discussion into the cases $N_f = 1$ and $N_f > 1$.

2.1.1 One matter field $(N_f = 1)$

For $N_f = 1$, a single matter superfield Φ^a $(a = 1, \dots, N)$ in the fundamental representation of U(N), the most general renormalizable action takes the form (in superfield notation, suppressing gauge indices)

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(D^{\alpha} \bar{\Phi} + i \bar{\Phi} \Gamma^{\alpha} \right) \left(D_{\alpha} \Phi - i \Gamma_{\alpha} \Phi \right) + m_0 \bar{\Phi} \Phi + \frac{\pi \omega}{\kappa} \left(\bar{\Phi} \Phi \right)^2.$$
(2.4)

Note that $(\bar{\Phi}\Phi)^2$ is classically marginal, and we chose a convenient normalization for its dimensionless coefficient ω . In components we find that \mathcal{L}_{matter} splits into three contributions (after integrating out the auxiliary fields):

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{boson}} = \mathcal{D}^{\mu} \bar{\phi} \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \phi + m_0^2 \bar{\phi} \phi + \frac{4\pi \omega m_0}{\kappa} (\bar{\phi} \phi)^2 + \frac{4\pi^2 \omega^2}{\kappa^2} (\bar{\phi} \phi)^3, \qquad (2.5)$$

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{fermion}} = -\bar{\psi} \left(i \not{\mathcal{D}} + m_0 \right) \psi, \qquad (2.6)$$

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{int}} = -\frac{2\pi(1+\omega)}{\kappa}(\bar{\phi}\phi)(\bar{\psi}\psi) - \frac{2\pi\omega}{\kappa}(\bar{\psi}\phi)(\bar{\psi}\phi) + \frac{\pi(1-\omega)}{\kappa}\left((\bar{\phi}\psi)(\bar{\phi}\psi) + \text{h.c.}\right). \quad (2.7)$$

²We work at large N, keeping only the leading order and sometimes the first subleading order in the 1/N expansion. Thus, all our results are also applicable to SU(N) gauge theories, and are independent of the value of the level of the U(1) factor in U(N).

We suppress gauge indices, and use brackets to denote gauge index contractions. For $\omega = 1$ the Lagrangian has enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY.

In the 't Hooft large N limit, of large N and κ with fixed 't Hooft coupling $\lambda = \frac{N}{\kappa}$, ω is exactly marginal so there are consistent QFTs (2.1) for every value of $-1 \leq \lambda \leq 1$ and ω . These theories were conjectured to obey a duality under the following transformation [14]:

$$\lambda' = \lambda - \operatorname{sign}(\lambda), \quad \omega' = \frac{3 - \omega}{1 + \omega}, \quad m'_0 = -\frac{2m_0}{1 + \omega}.$$
(2.8)

This transformation implies that the gauge-invariant singlet operator $J = \bar{\Phi}^a \Phi_a$ transforms under the duality as $J' = -\frac{1+\omega}{2}J$. Note that the value $\omega = 1$ (where the theory has enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY) is fixed under the duality. Note also that λ is parity-odd, while ω is parity-even.

We will mainly be interested in theories with $m_0 = 0$, and will be working in light-cone gauge $\Gamma_- = 0$. The $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Lagrangian then becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm CS} = -\frac{\kappa}{8\pi} \text{Tr} \left(\Gamma^{-} i \partial_{--} \Gamma^{-} \right), \qquad (2.9)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}} = -\frac{1}{2} D^{\alpha} \bar{\Phi} D_{\alpha} \Phi - \frac{i}{2} \Gamma^{-} \left(\bar{\Phi} D_{-} \Phi - D_{-} \bar{\Phi} \Phi \right) + \frac{\pi \omega \lambda}{N} (\bar{\Phi} \Phi)^{2}.$$
(2.10)

For $\lambda \to 0$ the gauge fields decouple, but we can still keep the superpotential interacting by taking $\lambda \to 0$ and $\omega \to \infty$ while keeping $\tilde{\omega} \equiv \pi \omega \lambda$ fixed. This gives the usual Φ^4 theory (in $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superfield notation):

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{\Phi}^a D^2 \Phi_a + \frac{\tilde{\omega}}{N} (\bar{\Phi}^a \Phi_a)^2.$$
(2.11)

2.1.2 Many matter fields $(N_f > 1)$

We now have N_f superfields in the fundamental representation of U(N), Φ_{ia} $(i = 1, \dots, N_f, a = 1, \dots, N)$. The action is still of the form (2.1), with the same \mathcal{L}_{CS} as in (2.2). The general matter Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_{matter} , assuming an $SU(N_f)$ global symmetry rotating the matter superfields, is now:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(D^{\alpha} \bar{\Phi}^{i} + i \bar{\Phi}^{i} \Gamma^{\alpha} \right) \left(D_{\alpha} \Phi_{i} - i \Gamma^{\alpha} \Phi_{i} \right) + m_{0} (\bar{\Phi}^{i} \Phi_{i}) + \frac{\pi \omega_{0}}{\kappa} \left(\bar{\Phi}^{i} \Phi_{i} \right)^{2} + \frac{\pi \omega_{1}}{\kappa} \left(\bar{\Phi}^{i} \Phi_{j} \right) \left(\bar{\Phi}^{j} \Phi_{i} \right), \qquad (2.12)$$

where we have again denoted gauge index contractions using brackets. Note the existence of two classically marginal superpotential couplings (which coincide in the case $N_f = 1$ or when the gauge group is U(1)). The theory has $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY for $\omega_0 = 0$, $\omega_1 = 1$.

The generalization of the duality transformation (2.8) to $N_f > 1$ has not yet appeared in the literature. We propose a generalization in section 6.1, and give some evidence for our proposal.

Again, we will be mostly interested in light-cone gauge with $m_0 = 0$, so that the matter Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}} = -\frac{1}{2} D^{\alpha} \bar{\Phi}^{i} D_{\alpha} \Phi_{i} - \frac{i}{2} \Gamma^{-} \left(\bar{\Phi}^{i} D_{-} \Phi_{i} - D_{-} \bar{\Phi}^{i} \Phi_{i} \right) + \frac{\pi \omega_{0} \lambda}{N} (\bar{\Phi}^{i} \Phi_{i})^{2} + \frac{\pi \omega_{1} \lambda}{N} \left(\bar{\Phi}^{i} \Phi_{j} \right) \left(\bar{\Phi}^{j} \Phi_{i} \right).$$
(2.13)

We can again take the limit $\lambda \to 0$, where the Lagrangian becomes a Φ^4 theory:

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{\Phi}^{ai} D^2 \Phi_{ai} + \frac{\tilde{\omega}_0}{N} (\bar{\Phi}^{ai} \Phi_{ai})^2 + \frac{\tilde{\omega}_1}{N} (\bar{\Phi}^{ai} \Phi_{aj}) (\bar{\Phi}^{bj} \Phi_{bi}), \qquad (2.14)$$

where $\tilde{\omega}_n \equiv \pi \lambda \omega_n$ for n = 0, 1 are kept fixed.

2.2 General form of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric correlation functions

We review some results from [15], where the general form of an $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric *n*-point correlation function was studied. Consider an *n*-point function of *n* scalar superfields Z_i :

$$\Gamma_n(p_i,\theta_i) = \langle Z_1(p_1,\theta_1) Z_2(p_2,\theta_2) \cdots Z_n(p_n,\theta_n) \rangle, \qquad (2.15)$$

with p_i the momenta and θ_i the anticommuting superspace coordinates (note that momentum conservation requires $\sum_i p_i^{\mu} = 0$). SUSY imposes the following constraints:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} Q_{p_i,\theta_i} \Gamma_n(p_i,\theta_i) = 0, \qquad (2.16)$$

where Q are the supercharges

$$Q_{\alpha}^{k,\theta} = i \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta^{\alpha}} - \theta^{\beta} k_{\alpha\beta} \right).$$
(2.17)

We now review the results for two and three-point functions.

For the 2-point function $\Gamma_2(p, \theta_1, \theta_2)$, the general form of the solution to (2.16) is

$$\Gamma_2 = e^{-\theta_1^{\alpha} p_{\alpha\beta} \theta_2^{\beta}} F_2(X_{12}, p), \qquad (2.18)$$

where we have defined $X_{ij} \equiv \theta_i - \theta_j$. F_2 can be expanded in superspace as

$$F_2 = C_1(p^{\mu}) - C_2(p^{\mu})(\theta_1 - \theta_2)^2.$$
(2.19)

Equivalently, we can write

$$\Gamma_2(p,\theta_1,\theta_2) = (C_1(p^{\mu})D^2 + C_2(p^{\mu}))\delta^2(\theta_1 - \theta_2), \qquad (2.20)$$

which is the general form of a supersymmetric two-point function.

For the 3-point function $\Gamma_3(p, q, -p - q, \theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$, a similar calculation gives

$$\Gamma_3 = e^{\frac{1}{3}X \cdot (p \cdot X_{13} + q \cdot X_{23})} F_3(X_{13}, X_{23}, p, q), \qquad (2.21)$$

where we have defined $X \equiv \sum_{i=1}^{3} \theta_i$. The expansion of F now contains eight terms:

$$\Gamma_{3} = e^{\frac{1}{3}X \cdot (p \cdot X_{13} + q \cdot X_{23})} \left(\mathcal{A} - i\mathcal{B}_{1}X_{13}^{+}X_{13}^{-} - i\mathcal{B}_{2}X_{23}^{+}X_{23}^{-} + \left(X_{13}^{+}, X_{13}^{-}\right) \cdot \mathcal{B} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} X_{23}^{+} \\ X_{23}^{-} \end{pmatrix} - \mathcal{C}X_{13}^{+}X_{13}^{-}X_{23}^{+}X_{23}^{-} \right), \quad (2.22)$$

with $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha\beta}$ a 2 × 2 matrix.

Given a 3-point function, we can isolate each of these terms. As an example, consider a free theory of N fields Φ_a with $a = 1, \dots, N$. Defining $J = \overline{\Phi}^a \Phi_a$, the 3-point function $\langle J(q)J(l)J(-l-q) \rangle$ is:

$$\mathcal{A} = 2 \frac{N}{8|q||l||q+l|}$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{1} = \mathcal{B}_{2} = 0$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{\alpha\beta} = 2 \left(\frac{N}{3} \frac{(l-q)_{\alpha\beta}}{8|q||l||q+l|} - N\mathcal{I}_{\alpha\beta} \right)$$

$$\mathcal{C} = 2 \left(-\frac{N}{9} \frac{(l-q)^{2}}{8|q||l||q+l|} - \frac{N}{8|l+q|} + \frac{2N}{3}(l-q) \cdot \mathcal{I} \right),$$
(2.23)

where we defined [5]:

$$\mathcal{I}_{\alpha\beta} = \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{p_{\alpha\beta}}{p^2(p-l)^2(p+q)^2} = \frac{\frac{l_{\alpha\beta}}{|l|} - \frac{q_{\alpha\beta}}{|q|}}{16|q+l|} \frac{|q| + |l| - |q+l|}{|q||l| - q \cdot l}.$$
 (2.24)

3 The Beta function at $\lambda = 0$ for $N_f = 1$

As explained in section 2.1, at $\lambda = 0$ the Lagrangian of the theory reduces to that of Φ^4 theory (with Φ a superfield):

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{\Phi}^a D^2 \Phi_a + \frac{\tilde{\omega}}{N} (\bar{\Phi}^a \Phi_a)^2, \qquad (3.1)$$

with $a = 1, \dots, N$. In this section we find the β function for $\tilde{\omega}$ and the γ functions for Φ and $J \equiv \bar{\Phi}^a \Phi_a$ at large N and at $\lambda = 0$ (to all orders in $\tilde{\omega}$). At leading order for small $\tilde{\omega}$, this was calculated in [7], and we compare the results in this limit at the end of this section.

3.1 Classification of diagrams contributing to Φ^4 at large N

In order to find the beta function, we must study the corrections to the Φ^4 vertex in (3.1). In this section we classify the diagrams which contribute to the 4-point function at leading and subleading order in $\frac{1}{N}$.

A general diagram for the 4-point function $\langle \bar{\Phi}^a \Phi_a \bar{\Phi}^b \Phi_b \rangle$ includes two external index lines and various internal index loops. Denote the number of vertices along the two external index lines by v_1 and v_2 , and the number of internal index loops with *i* vertices by n_i (i = 2, 3, ...). Since we will be using dimensional regularization, we have taken $n_1 = 0$ since single-vertex index loops will vanish.

In a diagram with $V \Phi^4$ vertices, each involving two index lines, we have

$$2V = v_1 + v_2 + 2n_2 + 3n_3 + 4n_4 + \cdots, (3.2)$$

and the power of N associated with this diagram is

$$\Delta = n_2 + n_3 + n_4 + \dots - V. \tag{3.3}$$



Figure 1. A chain.

Furthermore, we always have

$$v_1, v_2 \ge 1.$$
 (3.4)

First, note that in terms of counting powers of N we can just shrink all 2-vertex index loops to zero, since removing one such loop and one vertex does not change anything (they have $\Delta = 0$). Conversely, in each 4-point vertex, we can insert in the middle any number of index loops (a "chain", which will be denoted by a red line, see figure 1) without changing the power of N. So it is enough to classify diagrams with $n_2 = 0$, and then blow up each vertex into a chain with any number of index loops.

The leading diagram has V = 1, $v_1 = v_2 = 1$ with all others vanishing, and so has $\Delta = -1$. To get other diagrams with $\Delta = -1$ we must have

$$n_3 + n_4 + \ldots = V - 1 = (v_1 + v_2)/2 + (3/2)n_3 + 2n_4 + \ldots - 1,$$
 (3.5)

 \mathbf{SO}

$$v_1 + v_2 + n_3 + 2n_4 + \dots - 2 = 0. (3.6)$$

The only solution is $v_1 + v_2 = 2$ and the others vanishing, giving the chains discussed above.

The next order is $\Delta = -2$. At this order we must have

ι

$$v_1 + v_2 + n_3 + 2n_4 = 4 \tag{3.7}$$

(all the higher n_i 's must clearly vanish). The possible solutions (up to exchanging the external index lines) are:

- (a) $v_1 = 1, v_2 = 1, n_4 = 1$
- (b) $v_1 = 1, v_2 = 1, n_3 = 2$
- (c) $v_1 = 1, v_2 = 2, n_3 = 1$
- (d) $v_1 = 2, v_2 = 2$
- (e) $v_1 = 1, v_2 = 3$

So all of the diagrams that contribute at subleading order in N are of one of the types (a)-(e), where we replace vertices with chains. We draw all of the possible diagrams in figure 2.

3.2 Calculation of Beta and Gamma functions

We start with the calculation of a chain $\Delta_{\Phi^2\Phi^2}$ (figure 1), which is the leading order (in 1/N) contribution to the Φ^4 vertex. The result at this order can be written as an effective action term contributing to the 4-point function, of the form

$$\frac{1}{N}(\bar{\Phi}^a\Phi_a)(p,\theta_1)\left(a_0+a_1\frac{D^2}{|p|}\right)(\bar{\Phi}^b\Phi_b)(-p,\theta_2)$$
(3.8)



Figure 2. Diagrams contributing to the beta function at order 1/N.



Figure 3. The leading-order contribution to the gamma function of Φ .

(here we take the product of the superfields $\overline{\Phi}^a$ and Φ_a , which are at different points, and denote its momentum by p and its fermionic superspace coordinate by θ_1 , and similarly for the product of $\overline{\Phi}^b$ and Φ_b ; the D^2 operator acts on the latter superspace coordinate, and there is no dependence on other combinations of momenta). Note that each index loop adds a factor of N while each vertex adds a factor of $\frac{1}{N}$, so that all of the diagrams in a chain come with an overall factor of $\frac{1}{N}$. The chain is given by summing the diagrams of figure 1:

$$\Delta_{\Phi^{2}\Phi^{2}} \equiv \frac{1}{N} \left(a_{0} + a_{1} \frac{D^{2}}{|p|} \right) = \frac{2\tilde{\omega}}{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\tilde{\omega} \frac{D^{2}}{4|p|} \right)^{n} = \frac{1}{N} \frac{2\tilde{\omega}}{1 - \tilde{\omega} \frac{D^{2}}{4|p|}} = \frac{1}{N} \frac{8\tilde{\omega}}{\tilde{\omega}^{2} + 16} \frac{4|p| + \tilde{\omega}D^{2}}{|p|},$$
(3.9)

so that

$$a_0 = \frac{32\tilde{\omega}}{\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16}, \qquad a_1 = \frac{8\tilde{\omega}^2}{\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16}.$$
 (3.10)

Next we discuss the calculation of the diagrams (a)-(e), which are of subleading order in 1/N. Since we are interested in the β function, we calculate only the logarithmically diverging parts of these diagrams; these must take the same form as (3.8) above, since the naive divergences must be canceled by the cutoff-dependence of the leading order terms. The explicit calculation of these terms using dimensional regularization with $d = 3 - \epsilon$ appears in appendix B. The results are summarized in table 1. Note that these are all of order $1/N^2$.

We can now find $\beta_{\tilde{\omega}}$ and γ_{Φ} . γ_{Φ} is obtained from the diagram in figure 3, which gives the correction at order 1/N to the propagator $\langle \bar{\Phi}^a \Phi_a \rangle$. The contribution is

$$\frac{a_1}{N} \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{D^2}{|k|(p-k)^2} = \frac{a_1 D^2}{2N\pi^2 \epsilon}.$$
(3.11)

Type	Result
(<i>a</i>)	$-rac{a_1}{4\pi^2\epsilon}rac{D^2}{ p }\Delta^2_{\Phi^2\Phi^2}$
(b)	$-\frac{1}{32\pi^2\epsilon} \left(a_0 + a_1 \frac{D^2}{ p }\right)^2 \frac{D^2}{ p } \Delta^2_{\Phi^2 \Phi^2}$
(c)	$-\frac{1}{N}\frac{1}{4\pi^2\epsilon}\left(a_0+a_1\frac{D^2}{ p }\right)^2\Delta_{\Phi^2\Phi^2}$
(d)	$-\frac{1}{N^2}\frac{2a_1a_0}{\pi^2\epsilon}$
(e)	$-rac{1}{N}rac{3a_1}{\pi^2\epsilon}\Delta_{\Phi^2\Phi^2}$

Table 1. The logarithmically diverging parts of the diagrams of figure 2.

We thus find

$$\gamma_{\Phi} = \frac{1}{N} \frac{a_1}{4\pi^2} = \frac{1}{N} \frac{2\tilde{\omega}^2}{\pi^2(\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16)}.$$
(3.12)

 $\beta_{\tilde{\omega}}$ is obtained from the Callan-Symanzik equation

$$\left(\mu \frac{\partial}{\partial \mu} + \beta_{\tilde{\omega}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \tilde{\omega}} + 4\gamma_{\Phi}\right) \mathcal{O}_4 = 0, \qquad (3.13)$$

where \mathcal{O}_4 is the connected four-point function. Using the 1/N expansion we can write this as

$$\left(\beta_{\tilde{\omega}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\tilde{\omega}} + 4\gamma_{\Phi}\right)\Delta_{\Phi^{2}\Phi^{2}} + \left((a) + (b) + (c) + (d) + (e)\right) = 0, \qquad (3.14)$$

dropping the ϵ factor from the values of the diagrams given in the table above, where $\beta_{\tilde{\omega}}$ and γ_{Φ} are given at leading order in 1/N. We find:

$$\beta_{\tilde{\omega}} = -\frac{1}{N} \frac{16\tilde{\omega}^3 \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 - 48\right)}{\pi^2 \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16\right)^2}.$$
(3.15)

Note that equation (3.14) contains two terms, proportional to 1 and to $D^2/|p|$, and both of them vanish for this value, giving a consistency check for our computation. Also note that the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ point is at $\tilde{\omega} = 0$, and the beta function vanishes there as expected.

3.2.1 Additional correlators

We can actually use the same results to compute also additional correlation functions, at leading and subleading order in 1/N. Specifically, define the operator $J(x) = \frac{1}{N}\bar{\Phi}^a(x)\Phi_a(x)$. There are three correlation functions we can study: the 4-point function $\langle (\bar{\Phi}\Phi) \rangle$, the 3-point function $\langle J(\bar{\Phi}\Phi) \rangle$, and the 2-point function $\langle JJ \rangle$, which are all given by (some of) the same diagrams that we computed in the previous subsection, replacing if necessary two external Φ 's emanating from the same vertex (which gives an external chain) by an insertion of J. Start with the leading order in 1/N. For all of these correlators we just have a generalization of the chains discussed above:

$$\left\langle (\bar{\Phi}\Phi)(p)(\bar{\Phi}\Phi)(-p) \right\rangle|_{1/N} = \Delta_{\Phi^2 \Phi^2} \tag{3.16}$$

$$\left\langle J(p)(\bar{\Phi}\Phi)(-p)\right\rangle|_{1/N} = \Delta_{J\Phi^2} = \frac{1}{2\omega}\Delta_{\Phi^2\Phi^2}$$
(3.17)

$$\left\langle J(p)J(-p)\right\rangle|_{1/N} = \Delta_{JJ} = \frac{D^2}{16\omega|p|} \Delta_{\Phi^2 \Phi^2}$$
(3.18)

Note that all terms are of order 1/N. The first line is precisely the chain (3.9), while the other two are chains with external Φ 's replaced by insertions of J. Each of these correlators has a term going as 1 and another going as $\frac{D^2}{|p|}$, and naively we can use the logarithmic corrections to each of these correlators at order 1/N to independently compute the beta function. However, in the 2-point correlator $\langle J(p)J(-p)\rangle = b_0 + b_1\frac{D^2}{|p|}$, b_0 is actually a contact term (with a value depending on ω). At the next order in 1/N, as in a similar discussion in [5], a part of this can remain a contact term, and a part of this can become the 2-point function of J at separate points (which becomes non-trivial in momentum space once J has an anomalous dimension at order 1/N), and a priori it is not clear which part remains a contact term and which part does not. Thus the b_0 part of $\langle JJ \rangle$ cannot be used in the following to find the β , γ functions, and so we only use the b_1 part in the following.

Consider next the subleading order. Denote the contribution of the diagram types above (without the external leg factors which gave some powers of $\Delta_{\Phi^2\Phi^2}$ in the table above) by a, b, c, d, e. We find that the logarithmic terms at order 1/N are given by:

$$\langle (\bar{\Phi}\Phi)(p)(\bar{\Phi}\Phi(-p)\rangle |_{1/N^2} = (a+b)\Delta_{\Phi^2\Phi^2}^2 + (c+e)\Delta_{\Phi^2\Phi^2} + d$$
 (3.19)

$$\langle J(p)(\bar{\Phi}\Phi)(-p)\rangle|_{1/N^2} = (a+b)\Delta_{\Phi^2\Phi^2}\Delta_{J\Phi^2} + \frac{1}{2}(c+e)\Delta_{J\Phi^2}$$
 (3.20)

$$\langle J(p)J(-p)\rangle|_{1/N^2} = (a+b)\Delta_{J\Phi^2}^2,$$
 (3.21)

where the first line is just a rewriting of the results of the previous subsection.

Now we can calculate the beta and gamma functions. The RG equations for the correlation functions above depend on β_{ω} , on γ_{Φ} (which we already know from other considerations) and on the anomalous dimension of J, $\gamma_J = \gamma_{\Phi^2}$. We have 5 separate RG equations (the 1 and $D^2/|p|$ terms from the first two correlators, and the $D^2/|p|$ term from the second), with two unknowns, so we have an overconstrained system, and the inputs must satisfy three constraints. Let us write

$$a + b = O_1 + O_2 \frac{D^2}{|p|} \tag{3.22}$$

$$c + e = \frac{1}{N} \left(O_3 + O_4 \frac{D^2}{|p|} \right)$$
(3.23)

$$d = \frac{1}{N^2} \left(O_5 + O_6 \frac{D^2}{|p|} \right)$$
(3.24)

Note that all O_i 's are of order 1. Since we have three constraints, it is enough to calculate three of the O_i 's to find the rest (along with the beta and gamma functions). In terms of O_1, O_3, O_5 we find:

$$O_2 = \frac{O_3}{8}$$
(3.25)

$$O_4 = \frac{O_5}{4} \tag{3.26}$$

$$O_6 = 0$$
 (3.27)

$$\beta_{\tilde{\omega}} = -\frac{1}{N} \frac{32\tilde{\omega}(2\tilde{\omega}O_1 + O_3) + O_5\left(\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16\right)}{32}$$
(3.28)

$$\gamma_J = -\frac{1}{N} \frac{64\tilde{\omega}O_1 + 16O_3 + \tilde{\omega}O_5}{32}$$
(3.29)

Note that both $\beta_{\tilde{\omega}}$ and γ_J are of order 1/N. Plugging in our results from section 3.2, we find that our results for O_2 , O_4 and O_6 are consistent with these equations, and we obtain the beta function (3.15), and

$$\gamma_J = -\frac{16\tilde{\omega}^2 \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 - 16\right)}{\pi^2 \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16\right)^2} \frac{1}{N}.$$
(3.30)

The discussion above explains some properties of the results from the direct calculation; for instance, it explains why (e) does not have a term that is proportional to $\frac{D^2}{|p|}$. If (e) had such a term, it would appear in O_4 with one factor of either a_0 or a_1 (since the (e)-type diagrams have only one internal chain). However, we see that $O_4 = \frac{O_5}{4}$. O_5 comes from the (d)-type diagrams, which have two internal chains, so that it only contain terms of the form $a_0^2, a_0 a_1$ and a_1^2 . For generic a_0 and a_1 we cannot have that a term linear in a_i will be equal to a term quadratic in a_i , and so the $\frac{D^2}{|p|}$ term in O_4 must vanish.

3.2.2 Summary

To summarize, at leading order in 1/N we have:

$$\beta_{\tilde{\omega}} = -\frac{16\tilde{\omega}^3 \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 - 48\right)}{\pi^2 \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16\right)^2} \frac{1}{N}$$
(3.31)

$$\gamma_J = -\frac{16\tilde{\omega}^2 \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 - 16\right)}{\pi^2 \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16\right)^2} \frac{1}{N}$$
(3.32)

$$\gamma_{\Phi} = \frac{2\tilde{\omega}^2}{\pi^2(\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16)} \frac{1}{N} \tag{3.33}$$

By expanding the results above in $\tilde{\omega}$, one can compare the beta and gamma function found at leading (two-loop) order in $\tilde{\omega}$ in [7]. Due to the use of different conventions, we find $\gamma_{\Phi,us} = 2\gamma_{\Phi,them}$, $\gamma_{J,us} = 4\gamma_{J,them}$ and $\beta_{us} = 4\beta_{them}$. These factors remain consistent also in the $N_f > 1$ result, see section 6.2.

Our results exhibit attractive RG fixed points (where the superpotential is irrelevant in the IR) at $\tilde{\omega} = 0$ and $\tilde{\omega} = \infty$, and repulsive RG fixed points (where the superpotential is relevant in the IR) at $\tilde{\omega} = \pm \sqrt{48}$. We postpone further discussion of the beta function, and of the meaning of the fixed point at $\tilde{\omega} = \infty$, until section 5.

4 First steps towards the Beta function at $\lambda \neq 0$

We would like to compute the beta function for ω also for non-zero values of the CS coupling. Unfortunately, we were not able to do this. For $\lambda \neq 0$, the correlation functions of Φ 's are not gauge-invariant,³ so out of the correlators of the previous section, we can only compute $\langle JJ \rangle$, which, as discussed above, gives us just a single equation for β_{ω} and γ_J . Moreover, we were not able to completely compute the 1/N correction to $\langle JJ \rangle$. In this section we describe some contributions to this correction (and thus to the beta function) explicitly. These contributions require computing correlation functions of two and three J's, which we compute explicitly, and which are interesting in their own right. In addition, our considerations will enable us to constrain the form of the beta function at leading order in 1/N for all λ , limiting the number of its zeros, as we will discuss in the next section.

The main results of this section are the two and three-point correlation functions of $J = \bar{\Phi} \Phi$ in the 't Hooft limit. Readers interested in the RG flows can skip this section and move on to section 5.

4.1 General considerations

In this subsection we present a general method of obtaining some constraints on the beta function for the full theory (2.1), systematically for all orders in 1/N. We follow the method described in [5]. Start with the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Lagrangian discussed in section 2.1:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm CS} + (\nabla^{\alpha} \Phi)^2 + \frac{\pi \lambda \omega}{N} (\bar{\Phi} \Phi)^2.$$
(4.1)

We use the standard Hubbard-Stratonovich transformation to do large N computations; first, we rewrite the Lagrangian using auxiliary fields Λ, Σ as:

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{\rm CS} + (\nabla^{\alpha} \Phi)^2 + \frac{\pi \lambda \omega_0}{N} (\bar{\Phi} \Phi)^2 + \Lambda (\bar{\Phi} \Phi - N\Sigma) + \pi \lambda N (\omega - \omega_0) \Sigma^2, \qquad (4.2)$$

where we arbitrarily separated the superpotential into a term proportional to ω_0 and another proportional to $(\omega - \omega_0)$. This choice is arbitrary: we can work with any convenient value of ω_0 , and the results cannot depend on it. Next, we integrate out the matter fields Φ and the gauge fields; in their path integral Λ behaves as a source for the operator $J = \bar{\Phi}\Phi$ (note that from here on we use this normalization for J, which differs from the one of the previous section). This leaves us with an effective action for Λ, Σ :

$$\mathcal{L} = -N\Lambda\Sigma + \pi\lambda N(\omega - \omega_0)\Sigma^2 + \frac{1}{2}\Lambda G_2\Lambda + \frac{1}{3!}G_3\Lambda^3 + \frac{1}{4!}G_4\Lambda^4 + \cdots, \qquad (4.3)$$

where the G_n are the *n*-point functions of J in the CS-matter theory with a superpotential coefficient ω_0 . Here, the notation $G_3\Lambda^3$ is short-hand for three integrations over superspace of

$$G_3(x_1,\theta_1,x_2,\theta_2,x_3,\theta_3)\Lambda(x_1,\theta_1)\Lambda(x_2,\theta_2)\Lambda(x_3,\theta_3)$$

$$(4.4)$$

and similarly for the other terms.

³It may be possible to extract information from such correlators by computing them in a specific gauge, but since the gauge we use breaks Lorentz-invariance, non-Lorentz-invariant counter-terms may be needed, and we do not discuss this here.

Note that the G_n are of order N in the large N limit (though they are generally corrected at higher orders in 1/N). If we keep only the term of order N, then N appears as a coefficient in front of the full Lagrangian (4.3), and it does not appear anywhere else, so the 1/N expansion is the same as a loop expansion with this Lagrangian (the higher order terms in 1/N give corrections to this). For instance, we can now find the beta function for ω by finding the 1-loop corrections to the Σ^2 term. In other words, we must study the 1-loop correction to the Σ propagator (together with corrections at order 1/N to the tree-level result, from the higher order terms in G_2). In order to find this to order 1/N, we need to know G_2 , G_3 and G_4 at leading order in 1/N (see figure 4), and G_2 also at the first subleading order, but we do not need to know any of the higher G_n , so we will not write them from here on (they will be needed in order to obtain higher orders in 1/N).

Let us start by repeating the calculation of the beta function at $\lambda = 0$ using this formalism. We rewrite the relevant terms in the Lagrangian (4.3) as

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\Lambda G_2(\tilde{\omega}_0)\Lambda + \frac{1}{3!}G_3(\tilde{\omega}_0)\Lambda^3 + \frac{1}{4!}G_4(\tilde{\omega}_0)\Lambda^4 - N\Lambda\Sigma + N(\tilde{\omega} - \tilde{\omega}_0)\Sigma^2, \qquad (4.5)$$

and choose $\tilde{\omega}_0 = 0$, so that the correlators G_n are computed in the free field theory with no superpotential. A direct calculation gives $G_2(\tilde{\omega}_0) = \frac{N}{8} \frac{D^2}{|p|}$ (with no corrections in 1/N). Inverting the quadratic terms in the Lagrangian, one can then find the propagators for Λ, Σ (denoted by $\Delta_{\Lambda}, \Delta_{\Sigma}$) and the two-point function $\langle \Lambda \Sigma \rangle$ (denoted $\Delta_{\Lambda \Sigma}$). For instance, we find

$$\Delta_{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{N} \left(\frac{32\tilde{\omega}}{\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16} + \frac{8\tilde{\omega}^2}{\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16} \frac{D^2}{|p|} \right),\tag{4.6}$$

which is just the chain (3.9), and Δ_{Σ} is by construction proportional to $\langle JJ \rangle$, since $\Sigma = J/N$. We now find the beta function by finding the (diverging) quantum corrections to these propagators. The 1-loop corrections to Δ_{Σ} that we need to calculate appear in figure 4, where the external lines are $\Delta_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ propagators, and the internal lines are Λ propagators (note that these are the same as the (a) and (b)-type diagrams defined in section 3, which appear in figure 2). Using these diagrams, we can get an equation for $\beta_{\tilde{\omega}}$ and $\gamma_{\Sigma} = \gamma_J$ from the Callan-Symanzik equation⁴ for the two-point function $\langle \Sigma\Sigma \rangle$:

$$\left(\beta_{\tilde{\omega}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\tilde{\omega}} + 2\gamma_{\Sigma}\right)\Delta_{\Sigma} + \left((a) + (b)\right)\Delta_{\Lambda\Sigma}^2 = 0.$$
(4.7)

This is manifestly the same as one of the equations we discussed in the previous section; because the term proportional to $\delta^{(2)}(\theta_1 - \theta_2)$ is a contact term, it gives us a single nontrivial relation between $\beta_{\tilde{\omega}}$ and γ_J . If we denote

$$(a) + (b) = O_1 + O_2 \frac{D^2}{|p|}$$
(4.8)

as above, we have

$$\beta_{\tilde{\omega}} = \frac{\gamma_J N \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16\right) + 32O_1 \tilde{\omega} - 4O_2 \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 - 16\right)}{N \tilde{\omega}}.$$
(4.9)

⁴The Callan-Symanzik equation appearing here is obtained using a 1/N expansion of the full Callan-Symanzik equation, see the discussion around (3.13).



Figure 4. Diagrams contributing to the beta function of $\tilde{\omega}$ at order 1/N.

Using the results of the computations of the previous section gives the following relation between $\beta_{\tilde{\omega}}, \gamma_J$:

$$\beta_{\tilde{\omega}} = \frac{\pi^2 \gamma_J N \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16\right)^3 + 256\tilde{\omega}^2 \left(3\tilde{\omega}^2 - 16\right)}{\pi^2 N\tilde{\omega} \left(\tilde{\omega}^2 + 16\right)^2},\tag{4.10}$$

in agreement with the direct calculation from section 3. We thus find that while this method is not enough in order to find both $\beta_{\tilde{\omega}}$ and γ_J , one can still obtain a relation between them; additional correlators are needed to separate the two.

In the rest of this section we perform the analysis for general λ , in the hopes of finding a similar relation. For any λ we can obtain a relation between β_{ω}, γ_J by calculating loop corrections to the Σ^2 term in (4.3). For general λ there is nothing special about the point $\omega_0 = 0$ which is no longer free; in fact, it is convenient to use the value $\omega_0 = 1$, since then the correlators G_n are computed in the theory with enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry. At this value we know that J does not have an anomalous dimension, since it is in the same $\mathcal{N} = 2$ multiplet as the global symmetry current, and we also know that the beta function for ω vanishes, and thus G_2 does not have any logarithmic terms at any order in 1/N. Thus, the beta function at order 1/N can be obtained from the same diagrams as before, appearing in figure 4. We find the 2 and 3-point functions, G_2 and G_3 , in the next section. We then use them to calculate the (b)-type diagram. However, we will not be able to find the result for the 4-point function G_4 for general λ , and so we will not be able to calculate the (a)-type diagram.

4.2 Correlation functions of $J = \bar{\Phi} \Phi$

In this section we compute the two and three-point correlation functions of $J = \bar{\Phi}\Phi$ for all λ and ω , at leading order in 1/N, generalizing the non-supersymmetric computations of [10, 13]. We start by calculating the general four-point function $\langle \bar{\Phi}\Phi\bar{\Phi}\Phi \rangle$ for colinear momenta (this was done for the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ CS-matter theories in [15]). This result is then used to find the vertex $\langle J\bar{\Phi}\Phi \rangle$ for colinear momenta, which is then used to calculate $\langle JJ \rangle$ and $\langle JJJ \rangle$ for general momenta. We will use our results to suggest a possible generalization of the results of Maldacena-Zhiboedov [30, 33].

In order to perform the various 3d integrals that appear in this section, we use the standard formalism [10] in which we use a cutoff in the 1–2 plane and dimensional regularization in the 3 direction. In particular, we define $p_s = \sqrt{p_1^2 + p_2^2}$. For other conventions see appendix A.



Figure 5. The leading order four-point function.

4.2.1 Four-point function of Φ at large N

The four-point function of Φ in our theories was found, for some values of the momenta, in [15] (in the light-cone gauge $\Gamma_{-} = 0$; note that the result is not gauge-invariant). At leading order in 1/N, the correction to the four- Φ vertex in the effective action appears diagrammatically in figure 5. It can be viewed as coming from a four-point vertex in the effective Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L}_{4} = \frac{1}{2} V(\theta_{i}, p, q, k) \Phi_{a}(-p - q, \theta_{1}) \bar{\Phi}^{a}(p, \theta_{2}) \bar{\Phi}^{b}(k + q, \theta_{3}) \Phi_{b}(-k, \theta_{4}).$$
(4.11)

The authors of [15] found, for q in the x_3 direction $(q_+ = q_- = 0)$:

$$V = \exp\left(\frac{1}{4}X \cdot (p \cdot X_{12} + q \cdot X_{13} + k \cdot X_{43})\right) F(X_{12}, X_{13}, X_{43}, p, q, k),$$

$$F(X_{12}, X_{13}, X_{43}, p, q, k)$$

$$= X_{12}^{+}X_{43}^{+} \left(AX_{12}^{-}X_{43}^{-}X_{13}^{+}X_{13}^{-} + BX_{12}^{-}X_{43}^{-} + CX_{12}^{-}X_{13}^{+} + DX_{13}^{+}X_{43}^{-}\right),$$
(4.12)

with A, B, C, D functions of the momenta p, k, q, which can be computed from a Schwinger-Dyson equation. Here, $X_{ij} = \theta_i - \theta_j$ and $X = \sum_{i=1}^4 \theta_i$. In this work we will only need the expressions at the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ point $\omega = 1$. Defining $T(x) = e^{2i\lambda \tan^{-1}(\frac{2\sqrt{x^2+m^2}}{q_3})}$, these are given by:

$$A = -\frac{2i\pi}{\kappa} \frac{T(k_s)}{T(p_s)}, \qquad B = 0, \qquad C = D = \frac{2A}{(k-p)_{-}}.$$
(4.13)

4.2.2 Computation of $\langle J\bar{\Phi}\Phi \rangle$

We can now calculate $\langle J\bar{\Phi}\Phi\rangle$ in the collinear limit. Explicitly, we consider a correlation function of the form

$$\langle J(-q,\theta_c)\bar{\Phi}(p+q,\theta_b)\Phi(-p,\theta_a)\rangle$$
(4.14)

where we take $q_+ = q_- = 0$. Diagramatically, $\langle J\bar{\Phi}\Phi \rangle$ is given by the diagrams shown in figure 6. The first diagram is the contribution from the free theory, while the second diagram includes all of the interaction terms.

The first diagram is simple, and it contributes

$$\delta^2(\theta_a - \theta_c)\delta^2(\theta_b - \theta_c). \tag{4.15}$$



Figure 6. Diagrams contributing to $\langle J\bar{\Phi}\Phi\rangle$. A cross denotes a *J* insertion, and the shaded area corresponds to the general Φ 4-point function discussed in section 4.2.1.



Figure 7. Interacting contribution to $\langle J\bar{\Phi}\Phi\rangle$.

In terms of the decomposition of a general three-point function described in equation (2.22), this corresponds to C = 1 with all other coefficients vanishing.

A more detailed version of the second diagram appears in figure 7. This contributes:

$$\left\langle J\bar{\Phi}\Phi\right\rangle = N \int d^2\theta_3 d^2\theta_4 \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} V(\theta_b, \theta_a, \theta_3, \theta_4, p, q, k) \frac{D^2\delta(\theta_c - \theta_3)}{(k+q)^2} \frac{D^2\delta(\theta_4 - \theta_c)}{k^2}.$$
 (4.16)

We can now plug in the result (4.12) for the 4-point vertex V in terms of the θ 's, and also replace $D^2_{\theta,k}\delta^2(\theta-\theta')=e^{-\theta\cdot k\cdot\theta'}$. This allows us to do the integrals.

Summing the two contributions, we find the general result (decomposing the 3-point function according to the general form described in equation (2.22)):

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A} &= 0 \\ \mathcal{B}_{1} &= \mathcal{B}_{2} = -\frac{ie^{-2i\lambda \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_{s}}{q_{3}}\right)} \left(-(\omega-1)e^{i\lambda\left(2\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_{s}}{q_{3}}\right) + \pi \operatorname{sgn}(q_{3})\right)} + (\omega+3)\left(e^{2i\lambda \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_{s}}{q_{3}}\right)} - e^{i\pi\lambda \operatorname{sgn}(q_{3})}\right) + \omega-1\right)}{q_{3}((\omega-1)(\omega+3)\cos(\pi\lambda \operatorname{sgn}(q_{3})) - \omega(\omega+2) - 5)} \\ \mathcal{B}_{11} &= \frac{2e^{i\pi\lambda \operatorname{sgn}(q_{3})} \left(1 - e^{-2i\lambda \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_{s}}{q_{3}}\right)}\right)}{p_{-}\left((\omega+3)e^{i\pi\lambda \operatorname{sgn}(q_{3})} - \omega+1\right)} \\ \mathcal{B}_{12} &= -\mathcal{B}_{21} = i\mathcal{B}_{1} \\ \mathcal{B}_{22} &= 0 \end{aligned}$$



Figure 8. Diagrams contributing to $\langle JJ \rangle$.

$$C = 1 + \frac{e^{-i\lambda\left(2\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_s}{q_3}\right) + \pi\right)}}{6((\omega - 1)(\omega + 3)\cos(\pi\lambda) - \omega(\omega + 2) - 5)} \times \left[2\left(-1 + e^{2i\pi\lambda}\right)\operatorname{sgn}(q_3)\left((\omega - 1)e^{2i\lambda\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_s}{q_3}\right)} - \omega - 5\right) + (\omega - 1)(3\omega + 7)\left(-e^{2i\lambda\left(\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_s}{q_3}\right) + \pi\right)}\right) - (\omega - 1)(3\omega + 7)e^{2i\lambda\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_s}{q_3}\right)} + 2(\omega(3\omega + 4) + 9)e^{i\lambda\left(2\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_s}{q_3}\right) + \pi\right)} - 4e^{i\pi\lambda}((\omega + 5)\cos(\pi\lambda) - \omega + 3)\right]$$

$$(4.17)$$

In particular, we find a relatively simple expression at the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ point $\omega = 1$:

$$\mathcal{A} = 0$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{1} = \mathcal{B}_{2} = \frac{i\left(1 - e^{i\left(\pi\lambda \text{sgn}(q_{3}) - 2\lambda \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_{s}}{q_{3}}\right)\right)}\right)}{2q_{3}}$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{11} = -\frac{-1 + e^{-2i\lambda \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_{s}}{q_{3}}\right)}}{2p_{-}}$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{12} = -\mathcal{B}_{21} = i\mathcal{B}_{1}$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{22} = 0$$

$$\mathcal{C} = \frac{1}{6} \left(e^{-2i\lambda \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_{s}}{q_{3}}\right)} + 3e^{i\left(\pi\lambda \text{sgn}(q_{3}) - 2\lambda \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{2p_{s}}{q_{3}}\right)\right)} + 2\right)$$
(4.18)

Due to the symmetry under exchanging the two Φ legs together with charge conjugation, we expect $\mathcal{B}_1 = \mathcal{B}_2$ and $\mathcal{B}_{12} = -\mathcal{B}_{21}$, and this is manifest above. The result has the correct limit as $\lambda \to 0$ (which is $\mathcal{C} = 1$, with all other terms vanishing).

4.2.3 Computation of $\langle JJ \rangle$

1 0

Next, we calculate the two-point function $\langle J(q)J(-q)\rangle$. The diagram we need to calculate is shown in figure 8, which can be calculated using the results of the previous section. Note that the results of the previous section only give us this two-point function when the momentum q obeys $q_{-} = q_{+} = 0$, but the general result can be immediately found using Lorentz invariance. From the general form of the two-point function in equation (2.20), we find that the contribution from this diagram should be of the form

$$\left\langle J(q,\theta)J(-q,\theta')\right\rangle = \left(A_0(q) + A_1(q)\frac{D^2}{|q|}\right)\delta^2(\theta - \theta'),\tag{4.19}$$

⁵The precise relation is $\mathcal{B}_{12}(-q, p+q, -p) = -\mathcal{B}_{21}(-q, -p, p+q)$, but since $q_+ = q_- = 0$ and since \mathcal{B}_1 depends only on p_s , this reduces to the form above.

$$\underbrace{(JJ)_{\omega_0}}_{2\pi(\omega-\omega_0)} = \underbrace{(JJ)_{\omega_0}}_{2\pi(\omega-\omega_0)} + \underbrace{(JJ)_{\omega_0}}_{2\pi(\omega-\omega_0)} + \cdots$$

Figure 9. Diagrammatic relation between $\langle JJ \rangle_{\omega_0}$ and $\langle JJ \rangle_{\omega}$. Dashed blue lines correspond to $\langle JJ \rangle_{\omega_0}$, solid blue lines to $\langle JJ \rangle_{\omega}$, and black vertices to $\frac{\pi(\omega-\omega_0)}{\kappa}$ (along with the corresponding symmetry factor). The "chain" $\Delta_{\omega}^{\omega_0}$ can be defined as $\frac{\langle JJ \rangle_{\omega}}{\langle JJ \rangle_{\omega_0}}$.

so that there are only two unknown functions we must calculate, A_0 and A_1 . We find

$$A_{0} = \frac{N(\omega+1)\sin^{2}\left(\frac{\pi\lambda}{2}\right)}{\pi\lambda\left((\omega-1)(\omega+3)\cos(\pi\lambda) - \omega(\omega+2) - 5\right)}$$

$$A_{1} = -\frac{N\sin(\pi\lambda)}{\pi\lambda\left((\omega-1)(\omega+3)\cos(\pi\lambda) - \omega(\omega+2) - 5\right)}$$
(4.20)

We now perform some consistency checks on this result.

(. . .

- 1. In the limit of $\lambda \to 0$ with fixed $\tilde{\omega}$ we reproduce the 2-point function of the previous section.
- 2. A_1 is duality invariant. Note that A_0 is not duality invariant; however, it is a contact term which vanishes at separated points, so this just indicates that the duality transformation should be accompanied by adding an appropriate contact term (depending on λ and ω) for this 2-point function. A similar contact term appears in the 3-point function of scalar operators in the duality map between CS-fermion and CS-critical-scalar theories [5, 13].
- 3. We can find $\langle JJ \rangle_{\omega}$ for general ω by starting with $\langle JJ \rangle_{\omega=\omega_0}$ for any value of ω_0 , and treating $\frac{\pi(\omega-\omega_0)}{\kappa}(\bar{\Phi}\Phi)^2$ as a perturbation. In this case, we should have (at leading order in 1/N)

$$\langle JJ \rangle_{\omega} = \langle JJ \rangle_{\omega_0} \,\Delta_{\omega}^{\omega_0} \tag{4.21}$$

where the "chain" $\Delta_{\omega}^{\omega_0}$ takes us from ω_0 to ω , as shown in figure 9. Summing this series, one finds

$$\Delta_{\omega}^{\omega_{0}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{2\pi(\omega - \omega_{0})}{\kappa} \left\langle JJ \right\rangle_{\omega_{0}} \right)^{n} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{2\pi(\omega - \omega_{0})}{\kappa} \left\langle JJ \right\rangle_{\omega_{0}}}.$$
 (4.22)

A direct calculation shows that (4.20) indeed satisfies (4.21) for all ω and ω_0 (and for any λ).

4. Finally, we can compare our result to the known results in CS-matter theories with only bosons [10] or only fermions [13]. This is done by noticing that at $\omega = -1$, the term $(\phi^2)(\psi^2)$ which mixes fermions and bosons in the Lagrangian (2.7) vanishes. In this case, the diagram in figure 8 contributing to the top component of $\langle JJ \rangle$ has only fermions running in the loop, while the diagram contributing to the bottom component only has bosons running in the loop. This means that the results for the two-point functions of these components should agree with the fermion-only and boson-only calculations. We have verified that this is indeed the case.



Figure 10. Diagrams contributing to $\langle JJJ \rangle$.

4.2.4 Computation of $\langle JJJ \rangle$

Next we calculate the 3-point function $\langle J(q)J(l)J(-q-l)\rangle_{\omega}$, for which the relevant diagram appears in figure 10. Using the $\langle J\bar{\Phi}\Phi\rangle$ vertex calculated in section 4.2.2, one can calculate $\langle JJJ\rangle_{\omega}$ for colinear momenta. However, it is not immediately obvious how to generalize this result to any external momenta, since we do not know the most general form of the 3-point function of superfields that is allowed by superconformal invariance. We now describe the method we used to solve this issue.

Given the three-point function $\langle JJJ \rangle_{\omega_0}$ for some ω_0 (for instance, at the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ point $\omega_0 = 1$), one can find the 3-point function at any other ω by multiplying each external leg by the chain (4.22). By performing this calculation for colinear momenta, we find that there are 3 special values of ω (denoted $\omega_{\lambda}^{(i)}$ with i = 1, 2, 3) for which $\langle JJJ \rangle_{\omega_{\lambda}^{(i)}}$ with colinear momenta is proportional to the free theory result (i.e. the result for $\lambda = 0$). This fact should also be correct for general momenta,⁶ and so at these $\omega_{\lambda}^{(i)}$ the full result for $\langle JJJ \rangle_{\omega_{\lambda}^{(i)}}$ for general momenta is just the free result up to an overall factor. Then, applying the chains (4.22) once again to this result, we can find $\langle JJJ \rangle_{\omega}$ for general ω and general momenta.

Explicitly, the $\omega_{\lambda}^{(i)}$ for which the three-point functions are proportional to the free theory result are given by:

$$\omega_{\lambda}^{(i)} = 1 - \frac{4}{2\cos\left(\frac{\pi(\lambda - 2i + 2)}{3}\right) + 1}$$
(4.23)

⁶One might worry about the possibility of an additional structure which vanishes in the colinear limit but not in general, but this cannot be the case here. We can show this by using the effective action formalism. SUSY constrains the effective action giving the 3-point function of J's, when written in superspace, to have eight possible terms that couple three J's (in agreement with the decomposition in section 2.2). These terms come in two forms; terms whose bottom component has three scalars $(JJJ, J(D^2J)J, JJ(D^2J)$ or $J(D^2J)(D^2J)$) and terms whose bottom component has one scalar and two fermions (e.g. $JD_{\alpha}JD_{\beta}J$). For three scalars there is only one possible structure, which we can see in the colinear limit. Similarly, for scalar-fermion-fermion diagrams there are two possible structures [34] (an odd and an even one), and our colinear results see two structures, so neither of them can vanish there. This leaves only the possibility of contact terms, but these depend at most on a single momentum, so they cannot vanish in the colinear limit. Thus, there cannot be any additional structures that vanish in the colinear limit of the 3-point function but not in general.

for i = 1, 2, 3. Focusing on the simplest one, $\omega_{\lambda}^{(1)}$, we find:

$$\langle JJJ \rangle_{\omega_{\lambda}^{(1)}} = \frac{\sin\left(\frac{\pi\lambda}{3}\right) + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi\lambda}{3}\right)}{\pi\lambda\left(1 - 2\cos\left(\frac{\pi\lambda}{3}\right)\right)^2} \langle JJJ \rangle_{\text{free}}$$
(4.24)

Then, multiplying by the chains (4.22), one can find $\langle JJJ \rangle_{\omega}$ for general ω . We will only explicitly write down the result at the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ point, $\langle JJJ \rangle_{\omega=1}$. In terms of the decomposition discussed in equation (2.22), we find:

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{\sin(2\pi\lambda)}{2\pi\lambda} \mathcal{A}^{\text{free}}$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{1} = -2\frac{N\sin^{2}(\pi\lambda)}{\pi\lambda|l||l+q|}$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{2} = -2\frac{N\sin^{2}(\pi\lambda)}{\pi\lambda|q||l+q|}$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{\sin(2\pi\lambda)}{2\pi\lambda} \mathcal{B}^{\text{free}}_{\alpha\beta} + 2\frac{N\sin^{2}(\pi\lambda)}{16\pi\lambda} \frac{|l|+|q|-|l+q|}{|l||q||l+q|} (|l||q|-l\cdotq)}{|l||q||l+q|} (4.25)$$

$$\mathcal{C} = \frac{\sin(2\pi\lambda)}{2\pi\lambda} \mathcal{C}^{\text{free}}$$

As a consistency check, one finds that this has the correct limit when $\lambda \to 0$. Also note that symmetry under interchanging the q, l legs demands that $\mathcal{B}_1(q, l) = \mathcal{B}_2(l, q)$ and $\mathcal{B}_{12}(q, l) = -\mathcal{B}_{21}(l, q)$, as is apparent in the terms above. We have also emphasized the appearance of the free theory terms $\mathcal{A}^{\text{free}}, \mathcal{B}_1^{\text{free}}, \cdots, \mathcal{C}^{\text{free}}$ from section 2.2.

There are two more nontrivial checks we can do. The first is to check that the result is duality invariant, which indeed it is (we have also checked this for the more general case $\omega \neq 1$, and the result remains duality invariant). Another check is to compare the top and bottom components of our result to results in theories with only fermions [13] or only bosons [10] at $\omega = -1$, as was done for the two-point function in section 4.2.3. Again, we find that the results agree.⁷

As a final comment, we note that there only appear two structures in our result (4.25) at $\omega = 1$: a "free" structure appearing in the terms whose coefficient is proportional to $\sin(2\pi\lambda)/\lambda$, and an "odd" structure appearing in the terms whose coefficient is proportional to $\sin^2(\pi\lambda)/\lambda$. Surprisingly, this three-point function is composed of the same two structures (with coefficients depending on ω and λ) for all other values of ω as well. We discuss this further in the next section.

4.2.5 Discussion

Above we have calculated the two and three-point correlation functions of $J = \bar{\Phi}^a \Phi_a$ for an $\mathcal{N} = 1$ CS-matter theory at leading order in 1/N (these are equations (4.20) and (4.25) respectively). There are several important properties of these correlation functions that we now discuss.

 $^{^{7}}$ The fermionic result agrees only up to an overall sign, which is due to a different convention than the one used in [13].

First, all of the correlation functions above (at separated points) are duality-invariant under the duality described in section 2.1. We consider this as further evidence for these dualities.

Second, we emphasize that the three-point function becomes proportional to the free result for some values of the couplings (denoted $\omega_{\lambda}^{(i)}$). This behavior can be traced back to the fact that the three-point function is made up of only two structures with some coefficients, and so it is reasonable that one can tune the couplings ω and λ so that the coefficient of the "interacting" structure vanishes, leaving only the free structure. This fact simplifies any calculation which requires the three-point function, since the three-point function at $\omega_{\lambda}^{(i)}$ through the chains (4.22).

Next, we comment on the calculation of the four-point function, which we need in order to obtain the full one-loop correction to the Σ propagator as discussed above. For the Chern-Simons-fermion theory, this was computed in [31] (following [35]) for colinear momenta, and in principle we can perform a similar computation also in our case. However, apart from the added technical difficulties in this calculation, there is an additional difficulty in inferring the result for general momenta from the result for colinear momenta, which requires additional information. In the CS-fermion theory, the general result for the 4point function is determined by the inversion formula [36] (see also [37]), or by large spin perturbation theory, up to a finite number of coefficients [31, 38], and [31] showed that the colinear limit is enough to fix these coefficients. A similar analysis may be possible also in our case, but the inversion analysis is much more complicated (the CS-fermion analysis was simplified by the fact that all 3-point functions of two J's with other operators are proportional to their value in the free theory, which is not true for our theories). We leave this to future work.

Finally, our results for the 3-point functions above allow us to conjecture a possible generalization of the results of Maldacena and Zhiboedov [30, 33] to $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric theories. We review these results and our conjecture for the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ generalization in appendix C. We conjecture there that any three-point function of the approximately-conserved higher spin superfields J_s in these CS-matter theories is of the following form:

$$\langle J_{s_1} J_{s_2} J_{s_3} \rangle = \alpha_{s_1 s_2 s_3} \langle J_{s_1} J_{s_2} J_{s_3} \rangle_{\text{free}} + \beta_{s_1 s_2 s_3} \langle J_{s_1} J_{s_2} J_{s_3} \rangle_{\text{odd}}$$
(4.26)

where the first structure is the result in the free theory ($\lambda = \omega = 0$) of a single matter multiplet. Some constraints on the coefficients $\alpha_{s_1s_2s_3}$, $\beta_{s_1s_2s_3}$ are discussed in appendix C.

4.3 Beta function for $\lambda \neq 0$

We now return to the calculation of the beta function. We use the method described in section 4.1, for which we are required to find G_2, G_3, G_4 . Using our result for $\langle JJ \rangle$, at leading order in 1/N we find

$$G_2(\omega_0 = 1) = \frac{N}{8\pi\lambda} \left((\cos(\pi\lambda) - 1) + \sin(\pi\lambda) \frac{D^2}{|q|} \right).$$
(4.27)



Figure 11. Simplifying the (b)-type diagram.

This allows us to calculate the Σ propagator:

$$\Delta_{\Sigma} = \frac{1}{\pi\lambda N((\omega-1)(\omega+3)\cos(\pi\lambda) - \omega(\omega+2) - 5)} \left((\omega+1)\sin^2\left(\frac{\pi\lambda}{2}\right) - \sin(\pi\lambda)\frac{D^2}{|p|} \right). \tag{4.28}$$

Note that this reduces to the result for the chain (3.9) in the limit $\lambda \to 0$ (when rewriting the result in terms of $\tilde{\omega} = \pi \omega \lambda$).

We need to calculate the two diagrams in figure 4. We can calculate the (b)-type diagram (which requires only G_3 that we computed above), but not the (a)-type diagram (which requires G_4 , the J four-point function, which we do not have).

4.3.1 (b)-type diagram

As discussed in section 4.2.4, For any two values of the coupling ω_1, ω_2 , we can relate the corresponding three-point functions by multiplying their external legs by the chains (4.22). Schematically, we write

$$\langle JJJ \rangle_{\omega_1} = \langle JJJ \rangle_{\omega_2} \left(\Delta_{\omega_1}^{\omega_2} \right)^3. \tag{4.29}$$

Furthermore, we found that for specific values of $\omega = \omega_{\lambda}^{(i)}$ given in (4.23), the three-point function $\langle JJJ \rangle$ is proportional to the free theory result $\langle JJJ \rangle_{\text{free}}$. We thus find that any three-point function is proportional to the free result, up to multiplication by external legs:

$$\langle JJJ \rangle_{\omega} = C\left(\omega_{\lambda}^{(i)}\right) \langle JJJ \rangle_{\text{free}} \left(\Delta_{\omega}^{\omega_{\lambda}^{(i)}}\right)^{3}.$$
 (4.30)

The exact value for one such proportionality constant $C(\omega_{\lambda}^{(i)})$ is given in (4.24), and we will be using this value from now on. We can now easily calculate the (b)-type diagram, which appears in figure 11(a). Using the identity (4.30), we can rewrite this diagram as in figure 11(b). Finally, defining

$$\Delta'_{\Lambda} = \left(\Delta^{\omega_{\lambda}}_{\omega_0=1}\right)^2 \Delta_{\Lambda} \tag{4.31}$$

we find that this is equivalent to the diagram in figure 11(c). However, note that this final diagram is precisely the same as the (b)-type diagram in the $\lambda = 0$ case appearing in figure 2, apart from the fact that we have different values for a_0, a_1 on the internal "chain" (which can be read off from (4.31)).

We thus find that this diagram is almost identical to the one we calculated for the $\lambda = 0$ theory in section 3.2. In the $\lambda = 0$ theory, the result was (ignoring external leg factors of $\Delta_{\Phi^2\Phi^2}$):

$$(b)_{\lambda=0} = -\frac{1}{32\pi^2\epsilon} \left(a_0 + a_1 \frac{D^2}{|p|}\right)^2 \frac{D^2}{|p|}.$$
(4.32)

The result for general λ should be identical, up to the following changes:

- a_0, a_1 of (3.9) must be changed to the corresponding values coming from Δ'_{Λ} .
- The three-point function is not equal to the free value, but only proportional to it, with proportionality constant $\frac{\sin(\frac{\pi\lambda}{3}) + \sin(\frac{2\pi\lambda}{3})}{\pi\lambda(1-2\cos(\frac{\pi\lambda}{3}))^2}$. We must multiply each three-point function by this proportionality constant.
- We must multiply the external legs by $\Delta_{\omega_0=1}^{\omega_\lambda}$.

In summary, we find for the logarithmically diverging parts:

$$(b) = \left(\frac{\sin\left(\frac{\pi\lambda}{3}\right) + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi\lambda}{3}\right)}{\pi\lambda\left(1 - 2\cos\left(\frac{\pi\lambda}{3}\right)\right)^2}\right)^2 \left(-\frac{1}{32\pi^2\epsilon} \left(\Delta'_{\Lambda}\right)^2 \frac{D^2}{|p|}\right) \left(\Delta^{\omega_{\lambda}}_{\omega_0=1}\right)^2.$$
(4.33)

As a consistency check, this has the correct $\lambda \to 0$ limit and is duality-invariant.

4.4 Summary

Putting together the (a) and (b)-type diagrams, we can solve the Callan-Symanzik equation:

$$\left(\beta_{\omega}\frac{\partial}{\partial\omega} + 2\gamma_J\right)\Delta_{\Sigma} + ((a) + (b))\Delta_{\Lambda\Sigma}^2 = 0 \tag{4.34}$$

The (b) contribution appears in equation (4.33), Δ_{Σ} appears in equation (4.28), and we are missing the (a) contribution. As discussed above, only the $\frac{D^2}{|p|}$ term in the equation above is physical, meaning that even if we compute this contribution, we also need γ_J at order 1/N in order to find β_{ω} at this order.

5 Qualitative behavior of $N_f = 1$ fixed points for $\lambda \neq 0$

In the previous section we did not manage to find the explicit solution for the beta function for all λ . However, in this section we will show that our results above (with some additional arguments) are enough in order to conjecture the qualitative behavior of the fixed points for all λ . We start by showing that the beta function must have at most 6 roots for all values of λ . We then discuss all of the exact results one can obtain by combining the results of section 3, the duality (2.8) and general considerations from the symmetries of the theories. We then conjecture the qualitative form of the fixed points for general λ . Finally, we discuss some interesting consequences of these results.

5.1 Upper bound on number of fixed points

We now use the calculation outlined in section 4.1 to show that there are at most 6 fixed points for all values of λ . This is done by showing that the beta function must be of the form

$$\beta_{\omega} = \frac{P_6(\omega, \lambda)}{NQ(\omega, \lambda)^2},\tag{5.1}$$

where

$$Q(\omega,\lambda) = (\omega-1)(\omega+3)\cos(\pi\lambda) - \omega(\omega+2) - 5.$$
(5.2)

Note that $Q(\omega, \lambda) \leq 0$, and it vanishes only for $\lambda = 1$ and $\omega = -1$; our discussion below is relevant away from this value. Here and in the rest of this section, $P_n(\omega, \lambda)$ stands for an arbitrary *n*-th order polynomial in ω , and not any specific polynomial.

First, we show that some combination of β_{ω} and γ_J is of the form (5.1). In equation (4.34) we have found a Callan-Symanzik equation which relates β_{ω}, γ_J :

$$\left(\beta_{\omega}\frac{\partial}{\partial\omega} + 2\gamma_J\right)\Delta_{\Sigma} + ((a) + (b))\Delta_{\Lambda\Sigma}^2 = 0, \qquad (5.3)$$

where (a),(b) appear in figure 4. We can obtain most of the ω dependence of this expression from the discussion above. We start by writing the propagators explicitly:

$$\Delta_{\Lambda\Sigma} = \frac{2(\omega + 3 - (\omega - 1)\cos(\pi\lambda)) - 2(\omega - 1)\sin(\pi\lambda)\frac{D^2}{|p|}}{NQ(\omega, \lambda)}$$
(5.4)

$$\Delta_{\Sigma} = \frac{(\omega+1)\sin^2\left(\frac{\pi\lambda}{2}\right) + \sin(\pi\lambda)\frac{D^2}{|p|}}{NQ(\omega,\lambda)}$$
(5.5)

$$\Delta_{\Lambda} = -\frac{4\pi\lambda(\omega-1)((\omega-1)\cos(\pi\lambda)-\omega-3) + 4\pi\lambda(\omega-1)^2\sin(\pi\lambda)\frac{D^2}{|p|}}{NQ(\omega,\lambda)}$$
(5.6)

Now, note that the (a)-type diagram has a single Δ_{Λ} propagator (4.28), which gives its full ω -dependence, while the (b)-type diagram has two such propagators. In total, we find that the $\frac{D^2}{|p|}$ component of the Callan-Symanzik equation (5.3) reduces to

$$\left(\beta_{\omega}\frac{\partial}{\partial\omega} + 2\gamma_J\right)\frac{\sin(\pi\lambda)}{Q(\omega,\lambda)} + \frac{P_6(\omega,\lambda)}{NQ(\omega,\lambda)^4} = 0,$$
(5.7)

which can be simplified to

$$\beta_{\omega}(\omega+1)f(\lambda) + 2Q(\omega,\lambda)\gamma_J + \frac{P_6(\omega,\lambda)}{NQ(\omega,\lambda)^2} = 0, \qquad (5.8)$$

and so we have found one combination of β_{ω} and γ_J which is of the form (5.1).

In order to constrain β_{ω} on its own, we need one more such combination. In analogy to the non-SUSY version of these CS-matter theories, the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ CS-matter theories contain an infinite tower of approximately-conserved higher-spin superfields J_s (by which we mean that their twists differ from 1 by terms of order $\frac{1}{N}$). Let us consider the Callan-Symanzik equation for the three-point function $\langle JJ_1J_1 \rangle$, where J_1 is the approximately-conserved



Figure 12. Diagrammatic expressions for $\mathcal{O}_3, \mathcal{O}_4, \mathcal{O}_5$. Each external leg can be either a J or a J_1 , with a $\Delta_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ connected to the J leg.

superfield whose lowest component has spin one (see [39] for a precise definition). An argument similar to the one made around equation (4.22) shows that at leading order in 1/N we can calculate $\langle JJ_1J_1 \rangle_{\omega}$ by calculating $\langle JJ_1J_1 \rangle_{\omega=1}$ and then multiplying by a single chain. Schematically we write

$$\langle JJ_1J_1\rangle_{\omega} = \langle JJ_1J_1\rangle_{\omega=1}\Delta_{\omega}^{\omega=1}.$$
(5.9)

This chain is just $\Delta_{\omega}^{\omega=1} = \frac{\Delta_{\Sigma}(\omega)}{\Delta_{\Sigma}(\omega=1)}$, which means that we have the entire ω -dependence of this three-point function:

$$\langle JJ_1J_1\rangle_\omega = g(\lambda,\theta_i)\Delta_\Sigma(\omega,\lambda),$$
(5.10)

where we have emphasized the fact that the function g depends on the superspace coordinates. We can now write a Callan-Symanzik equation for this three-point function at order⁸ 1/N:

$$\left(\beta_{\omega}\frac{\partial}{\partial\omega} + \gamma_J\right) \langle JJ_1 J_1 \rangle + (\mathcal{O}_3 + \mathcal{O}_4 + \mathcal{O}_5)\Delta_{\Lambda\Sigma} = 0, \qquad (5.11)$$

where the 1-loop contributions to $\mathcal{O}_3, \mathcal{O}_4, \mathcal{O}_5$ appear in figure 12. These diagrams are written as we would compute them using an effective action similar to the one of section 4.1, with sources also for J_1 and not just for $\Sigma \propto J$. Again, using the ω -dependence of the various propagators (and focusing on any contribution to the 3-point function which at leading order in 1/N depends only on the $\frac{D^2}{|p|}$ component of Δ_{Σ} in (5.10)), this Callan-Symanzik equation reduces to

$$\beta_{\omega}(\omega+1)f(\lambda) + \gamma_J Q(\omega,\lambda) + \frac{P_7(\omega,\lambda)}{NQ(\omega,\lambda)^2} = 0, \qquad (5.12)$$

and so we have another independent combination of β_{ω} and γ_J which is similar to the form (5.1).

Comparing the ω -dependence of equations (5.8), (5.12) we find that we must have

$$\beta_{\omega}(\omega+1) = \frac{P_7(\omega,\lambda)}{NQ(\omega,\lambda)^2},\tag{5.13}$$

or

$$\beta_{\omega} = \frac{P_7(\omega, \lambda)}{N(\omega+1)Q(\omega, \lambda)^2}.$$
(5.14)

⁸Note that J_1 is conserved and so its anomalous dimension vanishes.

As a final step, we will show that the factor of $(\omega + 1)$ in the denominator must cancel with the numerator. Note that if P_7 does not have a root at $\omega = -1$ for generic λ , then for generic λ 's our expression (5.14) has a pole at $\omega = -1$. However, the duality transformation (2.8) relates $\omega = -1$ and $\omega = \infty$, and the beta function (5.14) for the dual coupling has no pole at $\omega = \infty$; since Q is quadratic in ω , the right-hand side of (5.14) grows at most as ω^2 for large ω , so the beta function for $1/\omega$ grows at most as a constant. We thus find that in order for the result (5.14) to be duality invariant, the numerator must always have a root at $\omega = -1$. We can then write

$$\beta_{\omega} = \frac{P_6(\omega, \lambda)}{NQ(\omega, \lambda)^2} \tag{5.15}$$

which agrees with the desired result (5.1). In particular, we learn that the beta function has at most six roots for every λ (for large enough N, when we can ignore higher contributions in 1/N).

5.2 Exact results and conjecture

We now outline our conjecture for the qualitative behavior of the fixed points. In section 3, we found six fixed points for $\lambda = 0$, at

$$\tilde{\omega}_c = 0, 0, 0, \sqrt{48}, -\sqrt{48}, \infty. \tag{5.16}$$

We would now like to expand this result as much as possible. We start by finding the fixed points in terms of the coupling ω in the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Lagrangian (2.10). Perturbation theory and parity considerations will then give us the behavior of the fixed points at leading order in λ . Then, using the duality, we manage to find the fixed points at strong coupling, for $1 - \lambda \ll 1$. We know that the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ point $\omega = 1$ is always a fixed point. Finally, we find that the point ($\lambda = \frac{1}{2}, \omega = -3$) has an emergent time-reversal symmetry which forces it to be a fixed point. These facts allow us to give a conjecture for the behavior of the fixed points for general λ .

We start by finding the fixed points in terms of ω instead of $\tilde{\omega}$. Using the definition $\tilde{\omega} = \pi \lambda \omega$ and our results for the fixed points $\tilde{\omega}_c$ (5.16), we immediately find three fixed points at $\omega_c = \frac{\sqrt{48}}{\pi \lambda}, -\frac{\sqrt{48}}{\pi \lambda}, \infty$ for small λ . The fixed points at $\tilde{\omega} = 0$ require a little more work, and cannot be found just from our results here; but they can be found from a 2-loop computation at small $\tilde{\omega}$ and λ , that was performed in [7]. They found three fixed points at small λ and $\tilde{\omega}$, which in our normalizations are at $\omega_c = -1, -\frac{1}{3}, 1$. We can identify these with the three fixed points at $\tilde{\omega} = 0$ that we saw for $\lambda = 0$. To summarize, we find six fixed points for small λ , at

$$\omega_c = -\frac{\sqrt{48}}{\pi\lambda}, \ -1, \ -\frac{1}{3}, \ 1, \ \frac{\sqrt{48}}{\pi\lambda}, \ \infty$$
(5.17)

We are assuming $\lambda > 0$ without loss of generality, and in general the fixed points depend only on $|\lambda|$ by parity. The fixed points at $\omega_c = 1$, $\omega_c = -1$ and $\omega_c = \infty$ are attractive in the IR, and the other three are repulsive.

Next, let us discuss the meaning of the fixed point at $\omega = \infty$. We can rewrite the superpotential of our CS-matter theory $W = \frac{\pi \lambda \omega}{N} |\Phi|^4$ by introducing an auxiliary superfield

H and taking

$$W = H|\Phi|^2 - \frac{N}{4\pi\lambda\omega}H^2,$$
(5.18)

since integrating out H leads back to the original theory. This suggests that also if we couple our CS-matter theory with $\omega = 0$ to an extra dynamical superfield H with the superpotential (5.18), then at low energies it would flow to our CS-matter theory with the parameter ω , perhaps with small corrections coming from the dynamics of H (which are suppressed by 1/N); H is generically very massive and can be integrated out. So we can describe our theories either in the original language, or in this new language, and in the new language the natural coupling is $1/\omega$ rather than ω . This suggests that the theories with $\omega \gg 0$ and $\omega \ll 0$ are in fact similar, so that the space of couplings ω is actually topologically a circle rather than a line; for large $|\omega|$ we should use the alternative parameterization (5.18) of the space of theories in terms of $1/\omega$. The large ω behavior of the beta function is consistent with having at most six fixed points on this circle for large N, where one of these may be at infinity (as we found for $\lambda = 0$).

For $\lambda = 0$ we can write the new parameter as $1/\tilde{\omega}$, and in the language of (5.18) we see that if we assign odd parity to H then the coupling $1/\tilde{\omega}$ breaks parity, so its beta function has to vanish at $\tilde{\omega} = \infty$, consistent with what we found above. For $\lambda \neq 0$ we have no parity symmetry, so it seems that there is nothing special about the point $\omega = \infty$, and the fixed point there can move to a finite value of $1/\omega$.

Next, let's discuss how our results (5.17) would change when we slightly increase λ . Note that since β_{ω} is invariant under parity, the points -1, -1/3, 1 can only be corrected at order $O(\lambda^2)$. Similarly, the points $\pm \frac{\sqrt{48}}{\pi \lambda}$ can only be corrected at order $O(\lambda)$. Also note that the fixed point at $\omega = 1$ has $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY, and so it is exact to all orders in λ since the coupling is not renormalized. Perfoming a similar analysis also near $\omega = \infty$, we can write the full set of fixed points for small λ as:

$$\omega_c = -\frac{\sqrt{48}}{\pi\lambda} + O(\lambda), \ -1 + O(\lambda^2), \ -\frac{1}{3} + O(\lambda^2), \ 1, \ \frac{\sqrt{48}}{\lambda} + O(\lambda), \ O(1/\lambda^2).$$
(5.19)

We can now use the duality (2.8) to learn about the behavior near $\lambda = 1$. The duality maps⁹ the six fixed points at $\lambda = 0$ to six fixed points at $\lambda = 1$:

$$\omega_c = -1, \ -1, \ -1, \ 1, \ 5, \ \infty. \tag{5.20}$$

For λ close to 1, their leading order behavior can be read off from the behavior of the corresponding point for λ close to zero. We do not have a direct argument explaining why one of the fixed points for $\lambda = 1$ is at $\omega = \infty$ (in the language of the previous section, the existence of a fixed point at infinity depends on whether the ω^6 term in $P_6(\omega, \lambda)$, which can only come from the diagram of figure 12(a), is present or not).

Next, let us show that there must be a fixed point at $(\omega, \lambda) = (-3, 1/2)$. First, note that at $\lambda = 1/2$, which maps into itself by a duality transformation followed by a parity (time-reversal) transformation, the duality must map the set of zeros of the beta function

⁹More precisely, starting from $\lambda > 0$ we use a combination of a duality transformation and a parity transformation to go to $\lambda \to 1$.



Figure 13. Qualitative RG flows of the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ $N_f = 1$ CS-matter theories at large N. The solid lines (and the point $(-3, \frac{1}{2})$) represent exact results that follow from a direct analysis of the β function for small λ . The dashed lines are the conjectured behavior for all λ . There is an additional fixed point at $\omega = \infty$ for λ close to zero and close to one, whose behavior for general λ cannot be found using our analysis. The results for negative λ can be obtained by using a parity transformation $\lambda \to -\lambda$, under which the set of roots of the beta function is invariant. Note that we draw λ as a continuous variable, even though for finite N it is discrete.

into itself. Since there is a zero at $\omega = 1$, which is a fixed point of the duality, we learn that there must be at least one more root that sits at a fixed point of the duality. Thus, at $\lambda = 1/2$ there must be at least another root either at $\omega = 1$ or $\omega = -3$. Let us show that at least one additional root appears at $\omega = -3$ by studying the behavior of the point at $(\omega, \lambda) = (-3, 1/2)$ under time reversal. In addition to the usual definition of the time reversal transformation T, we can define another time reversal transformation T', which is defined as

$$T' = T \circ D \tag{5.21}$$

where T is the standard time reversal transformation, and D is the action of the duality (2.8). It is easy to see that at the point $(\omega, \lambda) = (-3, 1/2), T'$ is an emergent symmetry (this is also true at the self-dual $\mathcal{N} = 2$ point $(\omega, \lambda) = (1, 1/2)$). If we deform the theory at $(\omega, \lambda) = (-3, 1/2)$ by a small deformation $\delta\omega$, we find $T' : \delta\omega \to -\delta\omega$, so that it breaks the T' symmetry. We conclude that we cannot generate a $|\Phi|^4$ term in the superpotential along the RG flow that starts at this point, since this would break the symmetry T'. This is thus a fixed point of the RG flow.

We present our exact results for the RG flows discussed above using solid lines in figure 13. Using these results, we conjecture a qualitative picture of the RG flows points for general λ using dashed lines in figure 13, for large values of N. While this conjecture is the simplest way in which we can connect the RG flows at small λ with those at λ close to one, it can fail in a number of ways. However, since we have shown that for large N there are at most six roots for the beta function, there cannot be additional pairs of roots which appear for $0 < \lambda < 1$ without some other pair annihilating. In the simplest conjecture there are three stable fixed points for all values of λ . One of these is the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ point which maps to itself under the duality, and the two other stable fixed points are exchanged by the duality. Similarly there are three unstable fixed points (which have two

$\omega = 1$		$\omega = -\frac{1}{3}$		$\omega = -1$	
\mathcal{O}_{ω}	2	\mathcal{O}_{ω}	$-\frac{2}{3}$	\mathcal{O}_{ω}	1
\mathcal{O}_{γ}	2	$a_1\mathcal{O}_{\alpha} + a_2\mathcal{O}_{\beta} + a_3\mathcal{O}_{\gamma} + \mathcal{O}_h$	$\frac{2}{9}(\sqrt{3}+1)$	\mathcal{O}_h	3
\mathcal{O}_h	6	$b_1 \mathcal{O}_{\alpha} + b_2 \mathcal{O}_{\beta} + b_3 \mathcal{O}_{\gamma} + \mathcal{O}_h$	$-\frac{2}{9}(\sqrt{3}-1)$	$-rac{1}{2}\mathcal{O}_eta+2\mathcal{O}_\gamma$	$\frac{1}{6}$
$-\mathcal{O}_{lpha}+\mathcal{O}_{eta}$	$\frac{2}{3}$	\mathcal{O}_h	$-\frac{4}{3}$	$-14\mathcal{O}_{\alpha}+7\mathcal{O}_{\beta}+14\mathcal{O}_{\beta}+\mathcal{O}_{h}$	$-\frac{1}{2}$

Table 2. Eigenvectors and eigenvalues of the RG flows at each of the fixed points $\omega = 1, -\frac{1}{3}, -1$.

 $\mathcal{N} = 1$ -preserving relevant operators) for all λ , one which maps to itself under the duality (and which includes the point $(\omega, \lambda) = (-3, 1/2)$) and two which are exchanged by it.

Finally, we can discuss deformations of these fixed points which don't preserve $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SUSY. For λ close to zero, these deformations were studied in [7] for the three fixed points close to the origin ($\omega = -1, -\frac{1}{3}, 1$). We will follow the notation of this paper. There are four classically marginal operators:

$$\mathcal{O}_{\alpha} = (\bar{\psi}\psi)(\bar{\phi}\phi),$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{\beta} = (\bar{\psi}\phi)(\bar{\phi}\psi),$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{\gamma} = \frac{1}{4} \left((\bar{\psi}\phi)(\psi^{*}\phi) + (\bar{\psi}^{*}\bar{\phi})(\psi\bar{\phi}) \right),$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{h} = -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa} (\bar{\phi}\phi)^{3}.$$
(5.22)

In particular, the combination

$$\mathcal{O}_{\omega} = 2\mathcal{O}_{\alpha} + 2\mathcal{O}_{\beta} + 4\mathcal{O}_{\gamma} + \omega\mathcal{O}_{h} \tag{5.23}$$

preserves $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SUSY (at large N). The RG flow eigenvectors and their anomalous dimensions at the three fixed points appear in table 2. All anomalous dimensions in the table come with an additional factor of $\frac{(2\pi)^2 \lambda^2}{N}$, and

$$a_1 = -\frac{2\left(29\sqrt{3} - 27\right)}{7\sqrt{3} + 15} \qquad a_2 = -\frac{4\left(\sqrt{3} + 30\right)}{7\sqrt{3} + 15} \qquad a_3 = \frac{4\left(31\sqrt{3} + 33\right)}{7\sqrt{3} + 15} \tag{5.24}$$

$$b_1 = -\frac{2\left(29\sqrt{3} + 27\right)}{7\sqrt{3} - 15} \qquad b_2 = -\frac{4\left(\sqrt{3} - 30\right)}{7\sqrt{3} - 15} \qquad b_3 = \frac{4\left(31\sqrt{3} - 33\right)}{7\sqrt{3} - 15} \tag{5.25}$$

The first row for each fixed point is the direction in which $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SUSY is preserved, and which appears in figure 13. As emphasized in [7], the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ fixed point is stable also to all non-SUSY deformations, but the other ones are not.

5.3 Phase diagram

The theories we discuss all have at least one $\mathcal{N} = 1$ -preserving relevant deformation a mass term $W = \mu |\Phi|^2$ — and for the three stable fixed points described above, we conjecture that this is the only $\mathcal{N} = 1$ -preserving relevant deformation. Turning it on,

Phase	Fermion	Boson	Low Energy Theory
(+, +)	+ve mass	UnHiggsed	$\mathrm{SU}(N)_{\kappa}$
(-,+)	-ve	UnHiggsed	$\mathrm{SU}(N)_{\kappa-1}$
(+, -)	+ve	Higgsed	$\mathrm{SU}(N-1)_{\kappa}$
(-, -)	-ve	Higgsed	$\mathrm{SU}(N-1)_{\kappa-1}$

Table 3. Low-energy Phases of $SU(N)_k$ with one fundamental matter field.



Figure 14. Superimposing the phase diagram on the RG flow diagram.

with either sign for μ , the theory develops a mass gap and flows to a pure CS theory in the IR; the point $\mu = 0$ is generally a point of a second order phase transition between the $\mu < 0$ and $\mu > 0$ phases (we study theories which do not break supersymmetry, so the vacuum energy is always zero and all phase transitions are second order). Starting from an $SU(N)_{\kappa}$ CS-matter theory, there are four phases that can naturally appear. In our conventions, integrating out the massive matter field leads to an $SU(N)_{\kappa}$ or $SU(N)_{\kappa-1}$ pure CS theory at low energies, depending on the sign of μ . Classically these are the only options for $\mu\omega > 0$, but for $\mu\omega < 0$ there are also classical Higgsed vacua where Φ obtains an expectation value, and the low-energy CS theory is $SU(N-1)_{\kappa}$ or $SU(N-1)_{\kappa-1}$. So classically there is one type of SUSY vacuum for $\mu\omega > 0$, and two types for $\mu\omega < 0$. Quantum mechanically this picture is modified as λ is turned on, with boundaries between phases at values of ω that depend on λ . The precise phase structure at infinite N (for a more general theory with arbitrary scalar and fermion couplings, not necessarily supersymmetric) was found in [26], by analyzing the effective potential; we use their notation for the phases, described in table 3. As in the classical analysis, there is always one sign of μ leading to a single SUSY vacuum, and another leading to vacua in two different phases, but the identity of the phases changes as ω and λ are varied.

The result for the phase diagram, for $0 \le \lambda \le 1$, appears superimposed on the result for the roots of the beta function in figure 14. The red lines represent lines (found in [26]) across which the phase structure jumps. In between any two red lines, we write down the phases when μ is positive and negative using the notation in table 3. For example, for ω close to 1, we find that for positive mass the only vacuum is $SU(N)_{\kappa}$, while for negative mass there are two vacua: $SU(N-1)_{\kappa}$ and $SU(N)_{\kappa-1}$. We see that in the simplest assumption for the evolution of the fixed points, each of the three stable fixed points — the one at $\omega = 1$, the one near $\omega = -1$, and the one near $\omega = \infty$ — has a different phase structure close to it. Note that in figure 14 it seems that the phase structure jumps across $\omega = \infty$, but in fact, as discussed above, near this point it is better to think of the theory by adding another singlet superfield and using the superpotential (5.18). In this language, near $\omega = \infty$ the operator $|\Phi|^2$ is set to zero by the equation of motion, so it is better to describe the mass deformation by adding

$$W = \hat{\mu}H \equiv \frac{N\mu}{2\pi\lambda\omega}H,\tag{5.26}$$

which gives the same action upon integrating out H. In terms of this more appropriate parameterization by $\hat{\mu}$, the phase structure is continuous as we cross $\omega = \infty$, with (+, +)and (-, +) phases for $\hat{\mu} > 0$, and a (+, -) phase for $\hat{\mu} < 0$, consistent with our picture of the space of couplings as a circle. For non-zero values of λ , this circle is divided into three regions with different phases, and we find one large N stable fixed point in each of these phases.

5.4 Discussion of dualities and exact moduli spaces

Let us summarize our results. For large but finite N, we find six fixed points for small and large λ . We find that for any λ there are at most six fixed points, and we conjecture that there are exactly six fixed points for all λ (see figure 13). There is a duality between the six fixed points with λ and those with $\lambda' = \lambda - \operatorname{sign}(\lambda)$, which at leading order in 1/Nrelates them according to equation (2.8). From each of the three unstable fixed points we can flow to the two adjacent stable fixed points, so the duality between the unstable fixed points implies the duality between the stable ones. In addition, we can describe each theory both in the original CS-matter language, and in the language of adding an extra singlet superfield as in (5.18). For large N the two descriptions clearly flow to the same fixed points, and we conjecture that also for finite N there is a duality between them, namely the CS-matter theories with some range of values of the H^2 superpotential in the UV (and with the same gauge group and level). All in all, each fixed point thus has four dual descriptions (with λ or with λ' , and with or without the singlet H).

At finite N the precise values of ω_c will be corrected, but we conjecture that, at least for large enough N, the number of fixed points and the dualities between them persist. At finite N we have several different dualities, whose precise form may be found by demanding level-rank duality of the low-energy theories resulting after mass deformations: a fixed point of the $SU(N)_{k+\frac{N-1}{2}}$ theory maps to one of the $U(k)_{-N-\frac{k-1}{2},-N+\frac{1}{2}}$ theory, a fixed point of the $U(N)_{k+\frac{N-1}{2},k-\frac{1}{2}}$ theory maps to one of the $SU(k)_{-N-\frac{k-1}{2}}$ theory, and a fixed point of the $U(N)_{k+\frac{N-1}{2},k-\frac{1}{2}\pm N}$ theory maps to one of the $U(k)_{-N-\frac{k-1}{2},-N+\frac{1}{2}\pm k}$ theory. As N decreases, some of the fixed points may disappear or others may appear, and the various dualities may or may not persist for small N; it would be interesting to study down to which value of N the various fixed points and the dualities between them survive. The dualities of the stable fixed points have already appeared in the literature before, but here we clarify which UV theories flow to the corresponding fixed points, and add the duality between the unstable fixed points as well.

The duality of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ point at $\omega = 1$ is a special case of U(N) and SU(N) $\mathcal{N} = 2$ dualities discussed in [2–4], and is believed to hold for all values of N and k. The $\mathcal{N} = 2$ fixed point $\omega = 1$ is attractive for λ close to 0 or 1, and it was shown to be attractive for finite N and large k as well in [7]. It is thus reasonable to assume that this point is attractive for all N and k. This is in agreement with comments appearing in [25, 28].

It is natural to assume that also the large N phase structure that we discussed near this point persists for finite values of N and k. Note that, at least for large N, the phase structure that appears at the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ point is unique to this fixed point — all other fixed points have a different phase diagram. This phase structure was shown to appear for the theories studied in [25, 28], and in particular for domain walls of four dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ $N_f = 1$ SQCD. This is evidence for the fact that the theories studied in these papers do indeed flow to the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ fixed point, and so it is evidence for the various patterns of SUSY enhancement discussed in these papers.

The authors of [22] proposed the following duality (and related SU - U and U - U dualities) for the case $N_f = 1$:

The operator H^3 was added on the right-hand side in order to make the classical phase structure match on the two sides of the duality as one deforms by a mass μ ; this was also the reason for the choice of sign of the superpotential on the left-hand side (its precise value plays no role). We recognize that the superpotential on the right-hand side, without the H^3 term (which is irrelevant in the IR anyway) is the same as the one we used in (5.18) to obtain a different description of our CS-matter theories, which is more convenient near $\omega = \infty$. Thus, we interpret this duality as a finite N version of the duality we found connecting the IR-stable fixed point that we found near $\omega = -1$, with the fixed point close to $\omega = \infty$,

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathrm{U}(k)_{N+\frac{k}{2}-\frac{1}{2},N-\frac{1}{2}} + \Phi & & \mathrm{SU}(N)_{-k-\frac{N}{2}+\frac{1}{2}} + \tilde{\Phi} \\ & \longleftrightarrow & \\ \omega \sim -1 & & \omega \sim \infty \end{array} \tag{5.28}$$

There is a large range of values of ω which flows to each of these fixed points, either in its original description or in the one with the extra singlet field H (where it is natural to flow to the large ω fixed point if one starts with no H^2 term in the superpotential at high energies). All theories in this range are conjectured to be IR-dual. Note that the phases appearing for these two fixed points in figure 14 exactly match the phases required in the proposed duality (5.27), without the need to consider the extra H^3 term in W (which can be added in the UV, but does not affect the IR). Finally, we discuss exact moduli spaces. We argued above that the theories with $(\omega, \lambda) = (-3, 1/2)$ are self-dual at large N, and that this leads to an emergent timereversal symmetry, which is a combination of time-reversal with a duality transformation. Under this emergent time-reversal symmetry the operator $|\Phi|^2$ maps to itself, but the superpotential has to be odd, so this prevents any superpotential from being generated, so that there must be an exact moduli space. The corresponding theories for finite values of N and k were already discussed in [25]; in particular they mentioned the emergent time-reversal symmetry of the theories

$$\begin{array}{l} \mathrm{U}(N)_{\frac{3}{2}N-\frac{1}{2}N_{f},2N-\frac{1}{2}N_{f}} + N_{f} \Phi \\ \mathrm{U}(N)_{\frac{3}{2}N-\frac{1}{2}N_{f},-\frac{1}{2}N_{f}} + N_{f} \Phi \end{array}$$
(5.29)

for all values of N, N_f ; for $N_f = 1$ these are special cases of the dualities we wrote above, with k = N. One can ask whether they all have an exact moduli space. Indeed, the simplest examples of the theories in (5.29) (given by $N = N_f = 1$) have been found to have moduli spaces.¹⁰ For all values of N it is natural to assume that the theories (5.29) discussed in [25] are the finite N versions of the large $N(\omega, \lambda) = (-3, 1/2)$ fixed points, with the same action of the emergent time-reversal symmetry on $|\Phi|^2$. This implies that all these theories, at the corresponding fixed point, have an exact moduli space. Since our arguments depend on the emergent time-reversal symmetry, we do not expect an exact moduli space in the corresponding Yang-Mills-Chern-Simons theories, which flow to these fixed points; it is just a property of the fixed point conformal field theories. Note that according to our discussion we expect these fixed points to be unstable, namely to have two relevant operators, a $|\Phi|^2$ and a $(|\Phi|^2)^2$ superpotential (at least for large enough N). We will perform a similar analysis in the next section for the case $N_f > 1$, and we will find a similar result, where there exists a fixed point with an exact moduli space in the large-N limit.

6 Theories with $N_f > 1$

In this section we consider the general theory of section 2.1.2 with $N_f > 1$. We start by generalizing the duality transformation (2.8). We then calculate the β and γ functions at $\lambda = 0$, generalizing our $N_f = 1$ computation. We manage to map only some of the fixed points to their value at strong coupling. We discuss various generalizations of some phenomena that appeared for $N_f = 1$, like exact moduli spaces and the behavior at infinite ω_i .

6.1 Duality

We start by generalizing the large N duality transformation (2.8) to the case $N_f > 1$; the action of the duality on λ is the same for all $N_f \ll N$, but we need to understand how the

¹⁰The theory $U(1)_{1/2} + \Phi$ is dual to a free matter multiplet and so has a moduli space [21]. The theory $U(1)_{3/2} + \Phi$ is dual to $U(1)_0 + \Phi_2$ where Φ_2 has charge 2 under the gauge symmetry, and this was also shown to have a moduli space [18].

duality acts on the superpotential couplings. Consider the theory given in (2.13), with an additional mass term which is not necessarily $SU(N_f)$ -invariant, namely

$$W_{\Phi} = m_{0,ij}(\bar{\Phi}_i \Phi_j) + \frac{\pi \omega_0}{\kappa} \left(\bar{\Phi}^i \Phi_i\right)^2 + \frac{\pi \omega_1}{\kappa} \left(\bar{\Phi}^i \Phi_j\right) \left(\bar{\Phi}^j \Phi_i\right), \qquad (6.1)$$

with $i, j = 1, \dots, N_f$. Let us rewrite this in a simpler form. Define $J_{ij} \equiv \Phi_i \Phi_j$, and decompose J_{ij} into its trace and adjoint parts:

$$\mathcal{J} = J_{kk}, \quad \mathcal{J}_{ij} = J_{ij} - \frac{\delta_{ij}}{N_f} \mathcal{J}, \tag{6.2}$$

with $\operatorname{Tr}(\mathcal{J}_{ij}) = 0$. Similarly, define

$$M_0 = \text{Tr}(m_{0,ij}), \quad M_{0,ij} = m_{0,ij} - \frac{\delta_{ij}}{N_f} M_0,$$
 (6.3)

so that $Tr(M_{0,ij}) = 0$. It is easy to show that the Lagrangian (6.1) can be rewritten as

$$W_{\Phi} = M_0^{ij} \mathcal{J}_{ij} + \frac{M_0}{N_f} \mathcal{J} + \frac{1}{N_f} \frac{\pi \lambda}{N} \omega_2 \mathcal{J}^2 + \frac{\pi \lambda}{N} \omega_1 \mathcal{J}_{ij}^2$$
(6.4)

where we have defined $\omega_2 \equiv N_f \omega_0 + \omega_1$.

We propose that the generalization of the duality (2.8) to $N_f > 1$ is given by

$$M'_{0,ij} = -\frac{2M_{0,ij}}{1+\omega_1}, \quad M'_0 = -\frac{2M_0}{1+\omega_2}, \quad \omega'_1 = \frac{3-\omega_1}{1+\omega_1}, \quad \omega'_2 = \frac{3-\omega_2}{1+\omega_2}.$$
 (6.5)

This can be thought of as two copies of the $N_f = 1$ transformation (2.8), one for the flavor-singlet and one for the flavor-adjoint sector, where ω_1, ω_2 transform independently. Equation (6.5) implies that under the duality $\mathcal{J}'_{ij} = -\frac{1+\omega_1}{2}\mathcal{J}_{ij}, \ \mathcal{J}' = -\frac{1+\omega_2}{2}\mathcal{J}$. For completeness we write the transformation of ω_0 as well:

$$\omega_0' = -\frac{4\omega_0}{(1+\omega_1)(1+\omega_2)}.$$
(6.6)

As an initial consistency check, this transformation is consistent with the fact that $\omega_1 = 1, \omega_0 = 0$ has $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY and so is a self-dual point.¹¹

We now perform two independent calculations which test this proposal: the zerotemperature pole masses in the unHiggsed phase (obtained from the gap equations) and the two and three-point correlation functions of \mathcal{J}_{ij} and \mathcal{J} .

$$(\omega_1, \omega_2) = (1, 1), (1, -3), (-3, 1), (-3, -3),$$
 (6.7)

or equivalently

$$(\omega_1, \omega_0) = (1, 0), \ \left(1, -\frac{4}{N_f}\right), \ \left(-3, \frac{4}{N_f}\right), \ (-3, 0).$$
 (6.8)

¹¹The full set of self-dual points are

6.1.1 Gap equations in unHiggsed phase

Using an immediate generalization of the mass gap calculation performed in [15], we can find the physical masses of the mass-deformed theory for the case $N_f > 1$. As a reminder, in [15] the mass gap equations were found by solving the Schwinger-Dyson equation for the propagator of Φ assuming no Higgsing, with the result

$$m = \frac{2m_0}{\lambda \text{sign}(m)(\omega_1 - 1) + 2}.$$
(6.9)

Under the duality the physical mass transforms as

$$m' = -m \tag{6.10}$$

as expected.

We repeat the calculation for the case $N_f > 1$ in appendix D. The result, when the mass matrix $M_{0,ij}$ is diagonal, is

$$m_{ij} = \frac{2M_{0,ij}}{\lambda \operatorname{sign}(m_{ij})(\omega_1 - 1) + 2} + \frac{\frac{2}{N_f}M_0\delta_{ij}}{\lambda \operatorname{sign}(m_{ij})(\omega_2 - 1) + 2}.$$
(6.11)

As an immediate generalization of the $N_f = 1$ result (6.9), we find that under the proposed duality transformation (6.5) we have $m'_{ij} = -m_{ij}$ as expected.

6.1.2 Correlation functions of $\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{J}_{ij}$

The two and three-point correlation functions of J for the case $N_f = 1$ appear in section 4.2. These were found by using the general four-point function of Φ 's, see [15]. Thus, in order to find the result for \mathcal{J} and \mathcal{J}_{ij} , we must generalize the calculation of the four-point function.

Luckily, if the interactions are written as in (6.4), this is relatively simple. We find that the Schwinger-Dyson equation for the four point function $(\bar{\Phi}^i \Phi_j)(\bar{\Phi}^j \Phi_i)$ with $i \neq j$ is exactly the same as the equation for $N_f = 1$, with ω replaced by ω_1 . Similarly, the equation for the four point function $(\bar{\Phi}^i \Phi_i)(\bar{\Phi}^j \Phi_j)$ is the same as the equation for $N_f = 1$, with ω replaced by ω_2 (up to some overall factors of N_f).

As a result, the two and three-point functions are an immediate generalization of the results of section 4.2 for the two and three-point functions of J when $N_f = 1$. We find

$$\langle \mathcal{J}_{ij}^2 \rangle = \langle J^2 \rangle |_{\omega \to \omega_1}, \qquad \langle \mathcal{J}^2 \rangle = N_f \langle J^2 \rangle |_{\omega \to \omega_2} \langle \mathcal{J}_{ij}^3 \rangle = \langle J^3 \rangle |_{\omega \to \omega_1}, \qquad \langle \mathcal{J}^3 \rangle = N_f \langle J^3 \rangle |_{\omega \to \omega_2}$$

$$(6.12)$$

where the two-point function $\langle J^2 \rangle$ is given in equations (4.19), (4.20), and the three-point function $\langle J^3 \rangle$ is given in equation (4.25) for $\omega = 1$ (but as discussed above this equation, the result for general ω can be obtained immediately from this result by multiplying it by chains).

We can now check our proposal for the duality transformation. This check is immediate, since $\langle J^2 \rangle, \langle J^3 \rangle$ are themselves duality-covariant according to the original $N_f = 1$ duality, and each sector transforms independently.



Figure 15. The chains for $N_f > 1$.

6.2 Beta and Gamma functions for $\lambda = 0$

As explained in section 2.1, for $N_f > 1$ the Lagrangian has two classically marginal operators:

$$\frac{\tilde{\omega}_0}{N}(\bar{\Phi}^a_i \Phi^a_i)(\bar{\Phi}^b_j \Phi^b_j), \qquad \frac{\tilde{\omega}_1}{N}(\bar{\Phi}^a_j \Phi^a_i)(\bar{\Phi}^b_i \Phi^b_j).$$
(6.13)

From now on we use brackets to describe a trace over gauge indices, so we can write these as

$$\frac{\tilde{\omega}_0}{N}(\bar{\Phi}_i\Phi_i)(\bar{\Phi}_j\Phi_j), \qquad \frac{\tilde{\omega}_1}{N}(\bar{\Phi}_j\Phi_i)(\bar{\Phi}_i\Phi_j).$$
(6.14)

We can now calculate the leading order beta functions at 1/N. Since the gauge indices are the same, we have the same diagrams as for the $N_f = 1$ case, but we must follow the flavor indices more carefully now.

We have two beta functions to calculate, for $\tilde{\omega}_0$ and $\tilde{\omega}_1$, and three different types of correlators:

• $\mathcal{O}_r = \langle (\bar{\Phi}_i \Phi_i) (\bar{\Phi}_j \Phi_j) \rangle$ with $i \neq j$

•
$$\mathcal{O}_q = \langle (\bar{\Phi}_j \Phi_i) (\bar{\Phi}_i \Phi_j) \rangle$$
 with $i \neq j$

•
$$\mathcal{O}_b = \langle (\bar{\Phi}_i \Phi_i) (\bar{\Phi}_i \Phi_i) \rangle$$

r, g, b stand for red, green, blue in our figures.

We start by calculating the leading order in 1/N contributions to these correlators, which are just generalizations of the chains (3.9). Next we calculate the contributions at next order in 1/N, which are generalizations of the (a)-(e) diagrams. This allows us to find the beta and gamma functions.

6.2.1 Leading order: chains

We now have three types of chains, shown in figure 15. In the red and green chains we take $i \neq j$. In the limit where $N_f = 1$ and either $\tilde{\omega}_0 = 0$ or $\tilde{\omega}_1 = 0$, the blue chain should correspond to the chain found in the $N_f = 1$ case (3.9).

The calculation of the various chains is similar to the $N_f = 1$ case in section 3.2. We find:

$$\Delta_{r} = 2 \sum_{l=1,k=0} {\binom{l+k}{l}} \tilde{\omega}_{0}^{l} N_{f}^{l-1} \tilde{\omega}_{1}^{k} \left(\frac{D^{2}}{4|p|}\right)^{l+k-1}$$
$$= 32 \tilde{\omega}_{0} \frac{16 - \tilde{\omega}_{2} \tilde{\omega}_{1} + 4(\tilde{\omega}_{2} + \tilde{\omega}_{1}) \frac{D^{2}}{|p|}}{\left(\tilde{\omega}_{1}^{2} + 16\right) \left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2} + 16\right)} = A_{0} + A_{1} \frac{D^{2}}{|p|}$$
(6.15)

Type	Contribution to \mathcal{O}_r	Contribution to \mathcal{O}_g
(<i>a</i>)	$-\frac{4\Delta_g\Delta_r(A_1+B_1N_f)+2\Delta_r^2N_f(A_1+B_1N_f)+B_1\Delta_g^2}{8\pi^2}\frac{D^2}{ p }$	$-rac{\Delta_g^2(2A_1+B_1N_f)}{8\pi^2}rac{D^2}{ p }$
(b)	$-\frac{\Delta_g^4 + 2\Delta_g^2 \Delta_r^2 \left(N_f^2 + 5\right) + 2\Delta_r^4 N_f^2 + 4\Delta_g^3 \Delta_r N_f + 8\Delta_g \Delta_r^3 N_f}{64\pi^2} \frac{D^2}{ p }$	$-\frac{\Delta_g^3(4\Delta_r+\Delta_g N_f)}{64\pi^2}\frac{D^2}{ p }$
(c)	$-\frac{\Delta_g^3 + 6\Delta_g \Delta_r^2 + 2\Delta_g^2 \Delta_r N_f + 2\Delta_r^3 N_f}{8\pi^2}$	$-\frac{\Delta_g^2(4\Delta_r+\Delta_g N_f)}{8\pi^2}$
(d)	$-\frac{2A_0A_1+B_0B_1}{\pi^2}$	$-\frac{2A_0B_1+2A_1B_0+B_0B_1N_f}{\pi^2}$
(e)	$-\frac{2\Delta_r(A_1+B_1N_f)+B_1\Delta_g}{\pi^2}$	$-\frac{\Delta_g(2A_1+B_1N_f)}{\pi^2}$

Table 4. The logarithmically diverging parts of the (a)-(e) diagrams for the case $N_f > 1$.





$$\Delta_g = 2\tilde{\omega}_1 \sum_{n=0} \left(\tilde{\omega}_1 \frac{D^2}{4|p|} \right)^n = \frac{8\tilde{\omega}_1}{1-2} \frac{4|p| + \tilde{\omega}_1 D^2}{1-2} = B_0 + B_1 \frac{D^2}{1-2}$$
(6.16)

$$= \frac{3\omega_1}{\tilde{\omega}_1^2 + 16} \frac{4|p| + \omega_1 D}{|p|} = B_0 + B_1 \frac{D}{|p|}$$
(6.16)

$$\Delta_b = \Delta_r + \Delta_g \tag{6.17}$$

Where we have defined $\tilde{\omega}_2 = N_f \tilde{\omega}_0 + \tilde{\omega}_1$. So at leading order in 1/N we find

$$\mathcal{O}_r = \Delta_r, \qquad \mathcal{O}_g = \Delta_g, \qquad \mathcal{O}_b = \Delta_b = \Delta_r + \Delta_g$$
(6.18)

6.2.2 Subleading order: (a)-(e) diagrams

We have three types of correlation functions to calculate, corresponding to $\mathcal{O}_r, \mathcal{O}_g, \mathcal{O}_b$. The diagrams contributing to these are of the same form as the (a) - (e) diagrams in figure 2, to which we must add the correct flavor index structure. Thus, each of the (a) - (e) diagrams contribute to $\mathcal{O}_r, \mathcal{O}_g$ and \mathcal{O}_b according to the structure of the flavor indices on the external legs. The results for the logarithmically diverging terms are summarized in table 4.

For \mathcal{O}_b , a direct calculation shows that the logarithmically diverging terms at order 1/N obey the relation $\mathcal{O}_b = \mathcal{O}_r + \mathcal{O}_g$, as they must for the consistency of the Callan-Symanzik equation at this order.

6.2.3 Gamma function

The diagrams contributing to γ_{Φ} appear in figure 16. Using our result for $N_f = 1$ and just adding the flavor index sums, we find the following results for the two diagrams:

$$\frac{A_1 + B_1}{2\pi^2 \epsilon} D^2, \quad (N_f - 1) \frac{B_1}{2\pi^2 \epsilon} D^2$$
(6.19)

So the total contribution is

$$\frac{A_1 + N_f B_1}{2\pi^2 \epsilon} D^2 \tag{6.20}$$

The gamma function is then

$$\gamma_{\Phi} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{A_1 + N_f B_1}{2\pi^2} = \frac{2}{\pi^2 N \left(\tilde{\omega}_1^2 + 16\right)} \left(\frac{16\tilde{\omega}_0 (N_f \tilde{\omega}_0 + 2\tilde{\omega}_1)}{(N_f \tilde{\omega}_0 + \tilde{\omega}_1)^2 + 16} + N_f \tilde{\omega}_1^2 \right)$$
(6.21)

One can expand γ_{Φ} in small $\tilde{\omega}_0, \tilde{\omega}_1$, and the result agrees with that of [7] (up to the same overall factor of 2 discussed in section 3.2.2).

6.2.4 Beta functions

In order to find the beta functions β_0, β_1 , it is enough to consider the Callan-Symanzik equation for \mathcal{O}_r (the Callan-Symanzik equations for $\mathcal{O}_g, \mathcal{O}_b$ can be used as consistency checks). This equation is

$$\left(\beta_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \tilde{\omega}_1} + \beta_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \tilde{\omega}_2} + 4\gamma_\Phi\right) \Delta_r + ((a)_r + (b)_r + (c)_r + (d)_r + (e)_r) = 0, \tag{6.22}$$

where we use $\tilde{\omega}_2 = N_f \tilde{\omega}_0 + \tilde{\omega}_1$ as in (6.4). Since each of the terms in the equation once again has two terms (one proportional to 1 and one proportional to $\frac{D^2}{|p|}$), this Callan-Symanzik equation gives us two independent equations for β_1 and for β_2 . Solving these equations we find

$$\beta_{1} = \frac{8\tilde{\omega}_{1}}{\pi^{2}N_{f}\left(\tilde{\omega}_{1}^{2}+16\right)^{2}\left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}+16\right)} \left[\tilde{\omega}_{1}^{4}\left(2\left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}+48\right)-N_{f}^{2}\left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}+16\right)\right)\right) + 16\left(3N_{f}^{2}-10\right)\tilde{\omega}_{1}^{2}\left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}+16\right)-2\tilde{\omega}_{1}^{5}\tilde{\omega}_{2}+64\tilde{\omega}_{1}^{3}\tilde{\omega}_{2}+1536\tilde{\omega}_{1}\tilde{\omega}_{2}+1024\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}\right], \quad (6.23)$$

$$\beta_{2} = -\frac{16}{\pi^{2}N_{f}\left(\tilde{\omega}_{1}^{2}+16\right)^{2}\left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}+16\right)^{2}}\left[\left(N_{f}^{2}-1\right)\tilde{\omega}_{1}^{3}\left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}-16\right)\left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}+16\right)^{2}\right. - 32\tilde{\omega}_{1}^{2}\tilde{\omega}_{2}\left(N_{f}^{2}\left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}+16\right)^{2}-2\left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{4}-8\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}+128\right)\right) + \tilde{\omega}_{1}^{4}\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{3}\left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}-48\right)+256\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{3}\left(\tilde{\omega}_{2}^{2}-48\right)\right]. \quad (6.24)$$

As a consistency check, we find that the solutions to the Callan-Symanzik equations for $\mathcal{O}_g, \mathcal{O}_b$ agree with the results above. Also, in the limit $N_f = 1$ with either $\tilde{\omega}_0 \to 0$ or $\tilde{\omega}_1 \to 0$, the results agree with our beta function at $N_f = 1$ (3.31). Next, note that β_1 in (6.23) is proportional to $\tilde{\omega}_1$, and so it vanishes if $\tilde{\omega}_1 = 0$. Indeed, at $\tilde{\omega}_1 = 0$ the symmetry of the Lagrangian (2.14) is enhanced from $U(N_f) \times U(N_c)$ to $U(N_f \times N_c)$, and so we expect the value $\tilde{\omega}_1 = 0$ to be preserved under the RG flow. As a final consistency check, we note that expanding the results for the beta functions (6.23), (6.24) for small $\tilde{\omega}_0, \tilde{\omega}_1$ reproduces the result from [7] (again, up to the overall factor).

6.2.5 Generalization to finite λ and discussion

We have found γ_{Φ} (6.21) and the two beta functions (6.23), (6.24). We plot the results in figure 17. Explicitly, for $N_f = 2$ the fixed points are:

$$(\tilde{\omega}_2, \tilde{\omega}_1) = (0, 0), \ \left(\pm\sqrt{48}, 0\right), \ \left(\pm\sqrt{48}, \pm\sqrt{48}\right), \ (\infty, 0), \ (0, \infty), \ (\infty, \infty).$$
 (6.25)



Figure 17. Fixed points in terms of $\tilde{\omega}_1, \tilde{\omega}_2$ at $\lambda = 0$.

The only attractive fixed points are (0,0) and $(\infty,0)$. For $N_f > 2$ we have the same fixed points (6.25), and in addition there are four extra fixed points for finite values of $\tilde{\omega}_i$, which are all repulsive.

As for $N_f = 1$, we were not able to compute the beta functions for general values of λ , but we know some things about them. We first attempt to generalize the results to small λ , that is, we attempt to find the fixed points in terms of the ω_i . We focus on the fixed points as a function of (ω_2, ω_1) since these are the useful values for the duality. For the fixed point at $(\tilde{\omega}_2, \tilde{\omega}_1) = (0, 0)$ we can use the results of [7] in order to find the fixed points in terms of ω_i at small λ , while for the other fixed points we can use the relation $\tilde{\omega}_i = \pi \lambda \omega_i$. This is enough to determine the $O(\frac{1}{\lambda})$ contributions to the fixed points, but when these vanish we cannot determine the O(1) values.

For all $N_f \ge 2$, the results of [7] give nine fixed points near the origin (in figure 18(a) we show the region closest to the origin, containing eight of these fixed points, for $N_f = 2$, and in figure 18(b) we show the region near the origin for $N_f = 3$). In addition, there are two fixed points at $(\omega_2, \omega_1) = \left(\pm \frac{\sqrt{48}}{\pi\lambda}, \pm \frac{\sqrt{48}}{\pi\lambda}\right)$ and one at $(\omega_2, \omega_1) = (\infty, \infty)$. There are four other fixed points for which the finite value of one of the two parameters ω_2, ω_1 cannot be determined, which correspond to $(\tilde{\omega}_2, \tilde{\omega}_1) = (\pm \sqrt{48}, 0)$, $(\tilde{\omega}_2, \tilde{\omega}_1) = (\infty, 0)$ and $(\tilde{\omega}_2, \tilde{\omega}_1) = (0, \infty)$. Finally, for $N_f > 2$ there are four extra fixed points which are at infinity for $\lambda = 0$, and for small λ behave as c/λ for some constant c.

For all $N_f > 1$ the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ fixed point is no longer stable, but there are other stable fixed points with ω_i of order one. One of these is expected to appear on the domain walls of 4d SQCD with N_f flavors [28]. The only other stable fixed point at large finite N is the one that starts at $\lambda = 0$ from $(\tilde{\omega}_2, \tilde{\omega}_1) = (\infty, 0)$.

We can use parity arguments to constrain the leading-order behavior in λ of the roots, just as we did in the $N_f = 1$ case in section 5. Furthermore, using the duality (6.5) one can map these fixed points into fixed points near $\lambda = 1$. One can then try to connect the



Figure 18. Fixed points in terms of ω_1, ω_2 for small λ near to origin.

fixed points at $\lambda = 0$ with those at $\lambda = 1$ in order to try and conjecture the behavior of the fixed points for general λ . However, since we cannot find the ω_1 values of all of the fixed points, we cannot find all of the fixed points at $\lambda = 1$, and so it is difficult to connect the fixed points at weak and strong coupling.

As in the $N_f = 1$ case, for infinite N we can rewrite the theories using variables that are more appropriate for large ω by adding singlet superfields, and for finite N we conjecture that the theories with the extra superfields still flow to the same fixed points, at least for large enough N. The form of the superpotential (6.4) suggests that we can add an SU(N_f)singlet superfield H coupled to \mathcal{J} , an SU(N_f)-adjoint superfield H_{ij} (Tr(H_{ij}) = 0) coupled to \mathcal{J}_{ij} , or both, giving three extra dual descriptions for each of our CS-matter theories. For example, the theory with both types of superfields added, which gives a smooth description of the region near the fixed point at (ω_2, ω_1) = (∞, ∞), is

$$W = H\mathcal{J} - \frac{N_f N}{4\pi\lambda\omega_2}H^2 + H_{ij}\mathcal{J}_{ij} - \frac{N}{4\pi\lambda\omega_1}H_{ij}^2.$$
 (6.26)

This makes it natural to view the space of couplings ω_1 , ω_2 as a compact space with the topology of a product of two circles, and with some finite number of fixed points on this space. The relevant deformations in the description (6.26) are terms in the superpotential linear in H and in H_{ij} . These alternative descriptions make it clear that for $\lambda = 0$, the fixed points at $(\tilde{\omega}_2, \tilde{\omega}_1) = (0, \infty), (\infty, 0), (\infty, \infty)$ have time-reversal symmetry, explaining why the beta functions vanish there.

As a final comment, we note that using time-reversal symmetry, we can once again find some of the fixed points at the self-dual value $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}$, in analogy with the $N_f = 1$ case in section 5.2. A similar argument to the one there shows that the points

$$(\omega_1, \omega_2) = (-3, -3), (1, -3), (-3, 1), (1, 1)$$
(6.27)

all have emergent time-reversal symmetry T' at $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}$ (note that the last point is the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ point). Under this symmetry, a small deformation $(\delta\omega_1, \delta\omega_2)$ around any one of the four points (6.27) transforms as

$$T'(\delta\omega_1, \delta\omega_2) = (-\delta\omega_1, -\delta\omega_2). \tag{6.28}$$

which means that this deformation breaks the symmetry, and so it cannot be generated along the RG flow emanating from this point. In other words, the points (6.27) are all fixed points of the RG flow at $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}$.

We can also discuss the existence of moduli spaces of the theories (5.29) at large N, as a generalization of the $N_f = 1$ result discussed in section 5.4. A similar argument shows that of the four fixed points (6.27) with emergent time-reversal symmetry, only the point $(\omega_1, \omega_2) = (-3, -3)$ is expected to have a moduli space at large N, because at this point all the operators that can appear in the superpotential are even under the emergent timereversal symmetry. Once again, we expect this moduli space to appear for finite N in the corresponding fixed points of the theories (5.29) as well.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank F. Benini, K. Inbasekar, S. Jain, Z. Komargodski, S. Minwalla, and T. Sharma for many useful discussions and for comments on a draft of this paper. This work was supported in part by an Israel Science Foundation center for excellence grant (grant number 1989/14) and by the Minerva foundation with funding from the Federal German Ministry for Education and Research. OA is the Samuel Sebba Professorial Chair of Pure and Applied Physics.

A Conventions

We mostly follow [40], and some additional conventions from [15].

A.1 Lorentzian

The metric signature is $\eta_{\mu\nu} = \{-, +, +\}$. Spinors are ψ^{α} , and spinor indices are raised and lowered with

$$C_{\alpha\beta} = -C^{\alpha\beta} = (\sigma_2)_{\alpha\beta} \quad \Rightarrow \quad C_{\alpha\beta}C^{\gamma\delta} = \delta_{\alpha}{}^{\delta}\delta_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} - \delta_{\beta}{}^{\delta}\delta_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}. \tag{A.1}$$

Explicitly, for a spinor ψ we have

$$\psi^{\alpha} = C^{\alpha\beta}\psi_{\beta} , \quad \psi_{\beta} = \psi^{\alpha}C_{\alpha\beta} , \quad \psi^{2} \equiv \frac{1}{2}\psi^{\alpha}\psi_{\alpha} = i\psi^{+}\psi^{-} .$$
 (A.2)

Vectors are real and symmetric $V_{\alpha\beta}$ with $V_{\alpha\beta} = V_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}$, with γ^{μ} the γ matrices. We will be using light-cone coordinates, where

$$k_{\pm} = \frac{\pm k_0 + k_1}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad k_s^2 = 2k_+k_- = k_1^2 - k_0^2, \qquad k^2 = k_s^2 + k_z^2.$$
 (A.3)

We choose a basis for the gamma matrices such that a spinor matrix $\mathbf{p}_{\alpha\beta}$ is related to a vector p_{μ} by:

$$\mathbf{p}_{11} = p_0 + p_1 = \sqrt{2}p_+, \qquad \mathbf{p}_{22} = p_0 - p_1 = -\sqrt{2}p_-, \qquad \mathbf{p}_{12} = p_z, \qquad (A.4)$$

so that

$$p^{2} = p_{z}^{2} + 2p_{+}p_{-} = \mathbf{p}_{12}^{2} - \mathbf{p}_{11}\mathbf{p}_{22} = -\det(\mathbf{p}),$$
(A.5)

$$p \cdot k = p_z k_z + (p_+ k_- + p_- k_+) = \mathbf{p}_{12} \mathbf{k}_{12} - \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{p}_{11} \mathbf{k}_{22} + \mathbf{p}_{22} \mathbf{k}_{11}).$$
(A.6)

A.2 Euclidean

The metric signature is $\eta_{\mu\nu} = \{+, +, +\}$. This means that we rotate $k_0 \rightarrow ik_0$. Correspondingly, we have

$$k_{\pm} = \frac{\pm ik_0 + k_1}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad k_s^2 = 2k_+k_- = k_1^2 + k_0^2, \qquad k^2 = k_s^2 + k_z^2.$$
 (A.7)

As before, we have:

$$\mathbf{p}_{11} = p_0 + p_1 = \sqrt{2}p_+, \qquad \mathbf{p}_{22} = \sqrt{2}p_-, \qquad \mathbf{p}_{12} = p_z.$$
 (A.8)

A.3 Superspace conventions

The spinor derivatives D_{α} in superspace obey the usual algebra:

$$\{D_{\alpha}, D_{\beta}\} = 2i\partial_{\alpha\beta},\tag{A.9}$$

and again the convention is $D^2 = \frac{1}{2}D^{\alpha}D_{\alpha}$. The following identities are very useful:

$$D_{\alpha}D_{\beta} = i\partial_{\alpha\beta} - C_{\alpha\beta}D^{2} , \qquad D^{\alpha}D_{\beta}D_{\alpha} = 0 , \qquad D^{2}D_{\alpha} = -D_{\alpha}D^{2} = i\partial_{\alpha\beta}D^{\beta} ,$$

$$\partial^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\gamma\beta} = \delta_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha}\Box , \qquad (D^{2})^{2} = \Box , \qquad \Box \equiv \frac{1}{2}\partial^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(A.10)

The free scalar superfield action is

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int d^2\theta \, \left(\Phi D^2 \Phi + m\Phi^2\right) = \frac{1}{2} \int d^2\theta \left(-\frac{1}{2}D^{\alpha}\Phi D_{\alpha}\Phi + m\Phi^2\right) \quad . \tag{A.11}$$

This superfield can be expanded in components as

$$\Phi = \phi + \theta \psi - \theta^2 F, \tag{A.12}$$

with ϕ a real boson, ψ a real fermion and F an auxiliary field.

The gauge multiplet is described by covariantizing the spinor and vector derivatives:

$$\{\nabla_{\alpha}, \nabla_{\beta}\} = 2i\nabla_{\alpha\beta} \ , \ \nabla_{\alpha} \equiv D_{\alpha} - i\Gamma_{\alpha} \ , \tag{A.13}$$

where the generators are hermitian (which is why there is an *i* in the definition of the gauge covariant derivative ∇_{α}). The gauge multiplet Γ^{α} can also be expanded in components:

$$\Gamma^{\alpha} = \chi^{\alpha} - \theta^{\alpha} B + i \theta^{\beta} A^{\alpha}_{\beta} - \theta^2 (2\lambda^{\alpha} - i\partial^{\alpha\beta}\chi_{\beta})$$
(A.14)

with A the gauge field, λ^{α} the gaugino, B an auxiliary scalar and χ^{α} an auxiliary fermion.

A.4 Chern-Simons levels

We now describe our regularization procedure for Chern-Simons levels. We mostly follow the notation appearing in the literature (for a detailed review see [5]), and consider only SU(N) gauge theories for simplicity.

We start with the non-supersymmetric Chern-Simons theories. There are two common regularizations appearing in the literature. One is Yang-Mills regularization, by adding a Yang-Mills term for the gauge fields, making them free at high energies, for which the UV level is denoted by k. The other is dimensional regularization, for which the level is denoted by κ . The former is often used when discussing small k, N dualities, while the latter is common when discussing the large-N 't Hooft limit. The relation between these two is the following: a Chern-Simons theory at level κ in dimensional regularization is the same as an identical theory with Yang-Mills regularization at level k, with

$$\kappa = \operatorname{sign}(k)(|k| + N). \tag{A.15}$$

Next, we describe the case for $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories. There is an additional subtlety here due to the gaugino, which must be integrated out, and the CS level shifts accordingly. If we start with a pure $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SU $(N)_{k^{\mathcal{N}=1}}$ CS theory, it is equivalent to a non-supersymmetric SU(N) CS theory with level¹²

$$k = \operatorname{sign}(k^{\mathcal{N}=1})\left(|k^{\mathcal{N}=1}| - \frac{N}{2}\right), \qquad \kappa = k^{\mathcal{N}=1} + \operatorname{sign}(k^{\mathcal{N}=1})\frac{N}{2}.$$
 (A.16)

In particular, the 't Hooft coupling λ for an $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theory $\mathrm{SU}(N)_{k^{\mathcal{N}=1}}$ is $\lambda = \frac{N}{\kappa} = \frac{N}{k^{\mathcal{N}=1} + \frac{N}{2}}$.

Our theories sometimes have enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY, and so we view them as $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories. In this description, there is an extra gaugino that must be integrated out, so that a pure $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SU(N)_{k $\mathcal{N}=2$} CS theory is equivalent to a non-supersymmetric SU(N) CS theory with level

$$k = \operatorname{sign}(k^{\mathcal{N}=2}) \left(|k^{\mathcal{N}=2}| - N \right), \qquad \kappa = k^{\mathcal{N}=2}.$$
(A.17)

Finally, we discuss the result of integrating out massive fundamental matter fields. Integrating out a massive boson does not shift the level, while each fundamental fermion of mass m that is integrated out leads to a shift by $\frac{\operatorname{sign}(m)}{2}$ in the level κ of the low-energy CS theory.

In order to comply with the notation in the literature, in the present paper we use κ for dualities in the large-N 't Hooft limit, and $k^{\mathcal{N}=1}$ for finite-N dualities (dropping the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superscript when the context is clear).

B Calculating the (a)-(e) diagrams

B.1 Quick introduction to $3d \mathcal{N} = 1$ supergraphs

We study the superspace Lagrangian

$$\bar{\Phi}_a D^2 \Phi_a + \frac{\tilde{\omega}}{N} (|\Phi_a|^2)^2, \tag{B.1}$$

¹²We are assuming here that $k^{\mathcal{N}=1}$ is large enough so that SUSY is not broken [41].



Figure 19. Integration by parts in superspace.

with $a = 1, \dots, N$. The Φ propagator is

$$\langle \bar{\Phi}_a(p,\theta)\Phi_b(-p,\theta')\rangle = \frac{\delta_{ab}D^2}{p^2}\delta(\theta-\theta').$$
 (B.2)

Interaction vertices are taken care of in a similar fashion to the non-SUSY case.

One main part of calculating supergraphs is the D-algebra. Each diagram comes with some D's acting on some propagators, but only diagrams with specific configurations of D's are non-vanishing. A non-vanishing diagram must have exactly one factor of D^2 acting inside each of its loops. This is due to the following identities:

$$\delta(\theta - \theta')\delta(\theta' - \theta) = 0, \tag{B.3}$$

$$\delta(\theta - \theta')D_{\alpha}\delta(\theta' - \theta) = 0, \qquad (B.4)$$

$$\delta(\theta - \theta')D^2\delta(\theta' - \theta) = \delta(\theta - \theta'). \tag{B.5}$$

In other words, having no factors of D in a loop or exactly one factor of D in a loop will make it vanish (note that using the superspace identities (A.10), 3 factors of D or higher can always be reduced to either 0,1 or 2 factors of D).

The game is thus to put all of the factors of D acting inside a certain loop on the same propagator. The diagrams that do not vanish then must have exactly one factor of D^2 inside each loop. To get all of the factors of D to act on one propagator, we use integration by parts. This means that at a specific vertex, we can transfer a factor of D that acts on one propagator to the other propagators attached to that same vertex. A diagrammatic version of this operation (for a Φ^3 interaction) is shown in figure 19 (up to signs). Using integration by parts we can get to a point where each loop has all of its D factors acting on a a single propagator (or on external legs), and then we can throw out this diagram unless each loop has exactly one D^2 .

An example of calculating a specific diagram (again using Φ^3 interactions) is shown in figure 20. Each (internal) propagator starts with a D^2 due to (B.2), and we integrate by parts the top propagator such that all D's act on exactly one propagator inside the loop. We find that only the rightmost diagram contributes, since it is the only one with the correct configuration of D's inside the loop.

B.2 Comments on the calculations

For our calculation of log-divergent terms in (ΦΦΦΦΦ), we only need to calculate diagrams that have no D's acting on external Φ legs (since these would be corrections to the Kahler potential and not the superpotential). Note that this does not prohibit D's from acting on external chains, since the chains include factors of D's themselves.





Figure 21. Type (a) diagrams.

- We keep all factors of N implicit.
- Some integrals that appear multiple times in the calculation are:

$$\int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{k^2 \left(k+p\right)^2} = \frac{1}{8|p|},\tag{B.6}$$

$$\int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{k^2 \left(k+p_1\right)^2 \left(k-p_3\right)^2} = \frac{1}{8 \left|p_1\right| \left|p_1+p_3\right| \left|p_3\right|}.$$
(B.7)

We encounter only one diverging integral, of the form $\int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{|k|(p+k)^2}$. Using dimensional regularization, this is

$$\int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{|k|(p+k)^2} = \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \frac{1}{p^{\epsilon} \epsilon} (1+O(\epsilon)).$$
(B.8)

• The numerical factors we find in the following are for diagrams which contribute to $\langle |\Phi_a|^2 |\Phi_b|^2 \rangle$ with $a \neq b$. In our normalization for $\tilde{\omega}$, the tree level result for this is $2\tilde{\omega}$.

B.3 Calculation of the diagrams

B.3.1 Type (a)

There are two types of type (a) diagrams. The D-algebra for the first type appears in figure 21(a) (here and in the following, we keep only diagrams which may diverge). Ignoring the external legs, the diverging terms in these diagrams are:

$$0, \qquad -2a_1 \frac{1}{8} \frac{1}{2\pi^2 \epsilon} \frac{D^2}{|p|}, \qquad 0.$$
(B.9)



Figure 22. Type (b) diagrams.

The second type appears in figure 21(b). These contribute

$$0, \qquad 0, \qquad -2a_1 \frac{1}{8} \frac{1}{2\pi^2 \epsilon} \frac{D^2}{|p|}. \tag{B.10}$$

So the full (a)-type contribution (including the external leg factors) is

$$-\frac{a_1}{4\pi^2\epsilon} \frac{D^2}{|p|} \left(a_0 + a_1 \frac{D^2}{|p|}\right)^2.$$
 (B.11)

B.3.2 Type (b)

These appear in figure 22(a). There are 4 types of diagrams, where in each type we choose either the 1 or the D^2 from the top and bottom chains. We do each type separately.

The $(b)_{(1,1)}$ appear in figure 22(b) and contribute:

$$-2 \cdot 2a_0^2 \frac{1}{8} \frac{1}{8} \frac{D^2}{2\pi^2 \epsilon |p|}, \qquad 0.$$
(B.12)

The $(b)_{(1,D^2)}$ diagrams appear in figure 22(c) and contribute:

$$2a_0a_1\frac{1}{8}\frac{1}{8}\frac{1}{2\pi^2\epsilon}, \qquad 2a_0a_1\frac{1}{8}\frac{1}{8}\frac{1}{2\pi^2\epsilon}, \qquad 0.$$
(B.13)

The $(b)_{(D^2,1)}$ Diagrams are the same as the $(b)_{(1,D^2)}$ diagrams. Finally, the $(b)_{(D^2,D^2)}$ diagrams appear in figure 22(d). These contribute

$$2a_1^2 \frac{D^2}{128\pi^2 \epsilon |p|}, \quad 0, \quad 0, \quad 2\frac{a_1^2}{128\pi^2 \epsilon} \frac{D^2}{|p|}, \quad 0.$$
 (B.14)

So the full (b)-type contribution is (including the two external chains)

$$-\frac{1}{32\pi^{2}\epsilon}\left(a_{0}+a_{1}\frac{D^{2}}{|p|}\right)^{2}\frac{D^{2}}{|p|}\left(a_{0}+a_{1}\frac{D^{2}}{|p|}\right)^{2}.$$
(B.15)



Figure 23. Type (c) diagrams.



Figure 24. Type (d) diagrams.



Figure 25. Type (e) diagrams.

B.3.3 Type (c)

The diagrams appear in figure 23. The diagrams contribute:

$$-4a_0^2 \frac{1}{8} \frac{1}{2\pi^2 \epsilon}, \qquad -4 \cdot 2a_0 a_1 \frac{1}{8} \frac{1}{2\pi^2 \epsilon} \frac{D^2}{|p|}, \qquad 4a_1^2 \frac{1}{8} \frac{1}{2\pi^2 \epsilon}, \tag{B.16}$$

so the total contribution (including the external chain) is

$$-\frac{1}{4\pi^2\epsilon}\left(a_0+a_1\frac{D^2}{|p|}\right)^3.$$
(B.17)

B.3.4 Type (d)

After doing the D-algebra, the only relevant diagram appears in figure 24. Its contribution is

$$-\frac{2a_0a_1}{\pi^2\epsilon}.\tag{B.18}$$

B.3.5 Type (e)

There are two (e)-type diagrams. After doing the D-algebra, the diagram contributing to the logarithmic terms from the first type appears in figure 25(a). This diagram contributes

$$-\frac{a_1}{\pi^2\epsilon}.\tag{B.19}$$

The second type appears in figure 25(b). This is a correction to the external Φ propagator, but we include it here since we consider the Callan-Symanzik equation for the full connected 4-point function. These contribute

$$-\frac{2a_1}{\pi^2\epsilon}, \qquad 0. \tag{B.20}$$

So the total contribution (including the external chain) is

$$-\frac{3a_1}{\pi^2\epsilon}\left(a_0+a_1\frac{D^2}{|p|}\right).\tag{B.21}$$

C Conjecture for the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ version of Maldacena-Zhiboedov

Our results for the 3-point functions in section 4.2.4 suggest a possible generalization of the results of Maldacena and Zhiboedov [30, 33] to $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric theories (such a generalization may be studied directly by their methods, but this was not yet done as far as we know). The main result of [30] can be stated as follows. Consider a 2+1d CFT which has a large N expansion, and whose large N spectrum of single-trace operators includes:

- a single spin-two conserved current.
- a series of higher spin currents¹³ j_s with even spins $s \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ which are approximately conserved (by which we mean that their twists differ from 1 by corrections of order 1/N).
- a single scalar operator j_0 . Theories in which this operator has dimension 2 at leading order in 1/N are called quasi-fermion, while theories in which it has dimension 1 are called quasi-boson.

Then, at leading order in 1/N, the three-point functions of these operators are constrained to have a specific form. In particular, these three-point functions are made up of three structures:

$$\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_{s_3} \rangle = c_1 \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_{s_3} \rangle_{\text{free,bos}} + c_2 \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_{s_3} \rangle_{\text{free,fer}} + c_3 \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_{s_3} \rangle_{\text{odd}}$$
(C.1)

where the first two structures are the result in the free theory of a single boson and a single Majorana fermion respectively, and all the coefficients may be determined up to a single constant (for quasi-fermion theories) or up to two constants (for quasi-boson theories). When all $s_i > 0$, the coefficients are independent of the spin.

Our $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories with $N_f = 1$ obey only the second assumption (explicitly, we have a single higher-spin approximately-conserved supercurrent multiplet J_s for $s = 0, \frac{1}{2}, 1, \cdots$ [39]). In particular, our theories include two scalar single-trace operators $\bar{\phi}^a \phi_a, \bar{\psi}^a \psi_a$, and two spin-2 operators which are conserved at large N. We thus might not expect the three-point functions to have a simple form. However, the results in the present paper suggest a generalization of the theorem of [30] to theories with $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SUSY.

¹³We use lowercase j to denote non-SUSY currents and uppercase J to denote SUSY current multiplets.

In particular, if we think of $J = \overline{\Phi}^a \Phi_a$ as a supersymmetric generalization of the scalar single-trace operator j_0 , then we have found that its large N three-point functions for a wide range of theories (with $N_f = 1$ and with different values of ω) are made up of only two structures:

$$\langle JJJ \rangle = \alpha \langle JJJ \rangle_{\text{free}} + \beta \langle JJJ \rangle_{\text{odd}}, \tag{C.2}$$

where the first structure is the result in the free theory ($\lambda = \omega = 0$) of a single matter multiplet. We conjecture a similar form for three-point functions of higher-spin currents as well:

$$\langle J_{s_1} J_{s_2} J_{s_3} \rangle = \alpha_{s_1 s_2 s_3} \langle J_{s_1} J_{s_2} J_{s_3} \rangle_{\text{free}} + \beta_{s_1 s_2 s_3} \langle J_{s_1} J_{s_2} J_{s_3} \rangle_{\text{odd}}.$$
 (C.3)

In our theories, the coefficients $\alpha_{s_1s_2s_3}$, $\beta_{s_1s_2s_3}$ are functions of a single parameter λ when all $s_i > 0$, and may also depend on ω when at least one s_i vanishes. We conjecture that general arguments of approximately-conserved higher-spin symmetry imply such a dependence on one or two parameters, that would appear in the non-conservation equations of the high-spin currents as in [30]. We will present evidence that when all spins s_i are even integers, the coefficients $\alpha_{s_1s_2s_3}$, $\beta_{s_1s_2s_3}$ are independent of the s_i . We conjecture that more generally, the coefficients are independent of the s_i also when all $s_i > \frac{1}{2}$, but we do not yet have evidence for this more general claim.

Let us use the non-SUSY results to show that the bottom component of $\langle J_{s_1}J_{s_2}J_{s_3}\rangle$ obeys this conjecture when all spins s_i are positive even integers (we use A| to denote the bottom component of A). We can decompose $J_s|$ in terms of the corresponding currents in the bosons-only and fermions-only theories, j_s^b and j_s^f , by $J_s| = j_s^f + j_s^b$. Setting $\omega = -1$, a discussion similar to the one in section 4.2.3 shows that the contributions from the bosonsonly and fermions-only theories detach in planar diagrams,¹⁴ and we find

$$\langle J_{s_1} J_{s_2} J_{s_3} \rangle | = \langle j_{s_1}^b j_{j_2}^b j_{j_3}^b \rangle + \langle j_{s_1}^f j_{s_2}^f j_{s_3}^f \rangle.$$
(C.4)

Taking the bottom component of our conjecture (C.3) and plugging in this equation, we find

$$\langle j_{s_1}^b j_{s_2}^b j_{s_3}^b \rangle + \langle j_{s_1}^f j_{s_2}^f j_{s_3}^f \rangle = \alpha_{s_1 s_2 s_3} \left(\langle j_{s_1}^b j_{s_2}^b j_{s_3}^b \rangle_{\text{free}} + \langle j_{s_1}^f j_{s_2}^f j_{s_3}^f \rangle_{\text{free}} \right)$$

$$+ \beta_{s_1 s_2 s_3} \left(\langle j_{s_1}^b j_{s_2}^b j_{s_3}^b \rangle_{\text{odd}} + \langle j_{s_1}^f j_{s_2}^f j_{s_3}^f \rangle_{\text{odd}} \right)$$

$$(C.5)$$

In order for our conjecture to be correct, this equation for the non-SUSY three-point function must be obeyed. Using the general form (C.1) and plugging in the correct coefficients c_i for the bosons-only and fermions-only theories with the same value of λ (see [10, 30]), we find that this equation is indeed obeyed. Apart from giving us a nice consistency check, this calculation also allows us to find the coefficients $\alpha_{s_1s_2s_3}$, $\beta_{s_1s_2s_3}$ for even spins s_i in terms of the non-SUSY coefficients c_i in (C.1). In particular, this proves that the coefficients $\alpha_{s_1s_2s_3}$, $\beta_{s_1s_2s_3}$ are independent of the spins s_i when the spins are all even integers.

Another consistency check can be performed using correlators of the form $\langle J_0 J_0 J_s \rangle$. In [39] it was shown that superconformal invariance allows just one possible structure

¹⁴This is clear at $\omega = -1$, but one can show that if all $s_i > 0$ then these correlators do not depend on ω , and so the contributions detach for all ω .



Figure 26. Diagrammatic version of the gap equation. A double line denotes the full matter propagator $P(r, \theta_1, \theta_2) = -\frac{1}{D^2 + m_0 + \Sigma}$, and a wiggly line denotes the full gauge field propagator obtained in [15] (both propagators are at leading order in 1/N).

in this correlator for s an even integer even, which is just the free structure. For s an odd integer or half-integer, this correlator vanishes. This is in agreement with the conjecture above. Similarly, it was shown in [39] that correlators of the form $\langle J_1 J_1 J_1 \rangle$ and $\langle J_{1/2} J_{1/2} J_{1/2} \rangle$ vanish, which trivially agrees with the conjecture. Finally, note that the multiplet $J_{3/2}$ contains the energy-momentum tensor and is thus conserved (as opposed to approximately-conserved). This allows for explicit computations, and indeed it was shown that the three-point function of $J_{3/2}$ contains only the free structure [42], again in agreement with the conjecture.

It would be nice to confirm that a general analysis along the lines of [30] indeed leads to (C.2) and (C.3), with the coefficients fixed in terms of one undetermined constant (two when one of the spins s_i vanishes); our results express these coefficients in terms of λ and ω . We note that for exactly conserved higher-spin currents, it was conjectured already in [39] that only two structures can appear. Our results seem to indicate that this is true also for approximately-conserved higher spin currents.

D The gap equations for $N_f > 1$

We solve the gap equations for $N_f > 1$ with arbitrary masses. This analysis is a generalization of the gap equation solved in [15], and we follow that calculation closely. Our superpotential is:

$$W_{\Phi} = m_{0,ij}(\bar{\Phi}_i \Phi_j) + \frac{\pi \omega_0}{\kappa} \left(\bar{\Phi}^i \Phi_i\right)^2 + \frac{\pi \omega_1}{\kappa} \left(\bar{\Phi}^i \Phi_j\right) \left(\bar{\Phi}^j \Phi_i\right), \qquad (D.1)$$

and we use the $U(N_f)$ symmetry to diagonalize the mass matrix, so that the bare masses are

$$m_{0,ij} = \text{diag}(m_{0,1}, m_{0,2}, \dots, m_{0,N_f}).$$
 (D.2)

It is useful to distinguish the symmetric-traceless part of this matrix and the trace part. Define

$$M_0 = \text{Tr}(m_{0,ij}), \quad M_{0,ij} = m_{0,ij} - \frac{\delta_{ij}}{N_f} M_0,$$
 (D.3)

so that $\operatorname{Tr}(M_{0,ij}) = 0$.

Now we solve the gap equation for the self-energy Σ_{ij} . The diagrammatic version of the gap equation appears in figure 26. Explicitly, following the derivation in [15], this gives:

$$\Sigma_{ij}(p,\theta_{1},\theta_{2}) = 2\pi\lambda\omega_{0}\delta_{ij}\int \frac{d^{3}r}{(2\pi)^{3}}\delta^{2}(\theta_{1}-\theta_{2})\operatorname{Tr}\left[P_{kl}(r,\theta_{1},\theta_{2})\right] + 2\pi\lambda\omega_{1}\int \frac{d^{3}r}{(2\pi)^{3}}\delta^{2}(\theta_{1}-\theta_{2})P_{ij}(r,\theta_{1},\theta_{2}) - 2\pi\lambda\delta_{ij}\int \frac{d^{3}r}{(2\pi)^{3}}\delta^{2}(\theta_{1}-\theta_{2})P_{ii}(r,\theta_{1},\theta_{2}) = 2\pi\lambda\left[\omega_{0}\delta_{ij}\int \frac{d^{3}r}{(2\pi)^{3}}\delta^{2}(\theta_{1}-\theta_{2})\operatorname{Tr}\left[P_{kl}(r,\theta_{1},\theta_{2})\right] + (\omega_{1}-\delta_{ij})\int \frac{d^{3}r}{(2\pi)^{3}}\delta^{2}(\theta_{1}-\theta_{2})P_{ij}(r,\theta_{1},\theta_{2})\right]$$
(D.5)

where P_{ij} is the full matter propagator. Since the final line does not depend on the momentum p, we guess a solution where Σ_{ij} is constant. Furthermore, note that if we guess a diagonal solution for Σ_{ij} , then P_{ij} becomes diagonal as well. We thus guess a solution of the form $\Sigma_{ij} = \text{diag}(m_1 - m_{0,1}, m_2 - m_{0,2}, \ldots)$, which leads to $P_{ij} = \text{diag}(P_1, \ldots, P_{N_f})$ with $P_i = \frac{D^2 - m_i}{p^2 + m_i} \delta^2 (\theta_1 - \theta_2)$. The gap equations (D.5) then reduce to

$$m_i - m_{0,i} = 2\pi\lambda \left(\omega_0 \sum_j \int \frac{d^3r}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{r^2 + m_j} + (\omega_1 - 1) \int \frac{d^3r}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{r^2 + m_i}\right).$$
(D.6)

Calculating the integrals using dimensional regularization, we find

$$m_i - m_{0,i} = (1 - \omega_1) \frac{\lambda |m_i|}{2} - \omega_0 \frac{\lambda \sum_j |m_j|}{2}.$$
 (D.7)

0

The solution is:

$$m_{i} = \frac{2M_{0,i}}{\lambda \text{sign}(m_{i})(\omega_{1}-1)+2} + \frac{\frac{2}{N_{f}}M_{0}}{\lambda \text{sign}(m_{i})(\omega_{2}-1)+2},$$
(D.8)

where $\omega_2 = N_f \omega_0 + \omega_1$. Note that the result has split into two separate contributions from the symmetric-traceless part and the trace part, which are each (almost) identical to the $N_f = 1$ result (6.9). It is thus immediate to show that this result is invariant under the proposed duality transformation (6.5).

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

 A. Giveon and D. Kutasov, Seiberg duality in Chern-Simons theory, Nucl. Phys. B 812 (2009) 1 [arXiv:0808.0360] [INSPIRE].

- [2] F. Benini, C. Closset and S. Cremonesi, Comments on 3d Seiberg-like dualities, JHEP 10 (2011) 075 [arXiv:1108.5373] [INSPIRE].
- [3] O. Aharony, S.S. Razamat, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, 3d dualities from 4d dualities, JHEP 07 (2013) 149 [arXiv:1305.3924] [INSPIRE].
- [4] O. Aharony and D. Fleischer, IR dualities in general 3d supersymmetric SU(N) QCD theories, JHEP 02 (2015) 162 [arXiv:1411.5475] [INSPIRE].
- [5] O. Aharony, S. Jain and S. Minwalla, Flows, fixed points and duality in Chern-Simons-Matter theories, JHEP 12 (2018) 058 [arXiv:1808.03317] [INSPIRE].
- [6] L.V. Avdeev, G.V. Grigorev and D.I. Kazakov, *Renormalizations in abelian Chern-Simons field theories with matter*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 382 (1992) 561 [INSPIRE].
- [7] L.V. Avdeev, D.I. Kazakov and I.N. Kondrashuk, Renormalizations in supersymmetric and nonsupersymmetric nonAbelian Chern-Simons field theories with matter, Nucl. Phys. B 391 (1993) 333 [INSPIRE].
- [8] S. Giombi et al., Chern-Simons theory with vector fermion matter, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 2112 [arXiv:1110.4386] [INSPIRE].
- [9] O. Aharony, G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, d = 3 bosonic vector models coupled to Chern-Simons gauge theories, *JHEP* **03** (2012) 037 [arXiv:1110.4382] [INSPIRE].
- [10] O. Aharony, G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, Correlation functions of large N Chern-Simons-Matter theories and bosonization in three dimensions, JHEP 12 (2012) 028
 [arXiv:1207.4593] [INSPIRE].
- [11] S. Jain, S.P. Trivedi, S.R. Wadia and S. Yokoyama, Supersymmetric Chern-Simons theories with vector matter, JHEP 10 (2012) 194 [arXiv:1207.4750] [INSPIRE].
- [12] O. Aharony et al., The thermal free energy in large N Chern-Simons-Matter theories, JHEP 03 (2013) 121 [arXiv:1211.4843] [INSPIRE].
- [13] G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, Correlators of large N fermionic Chern-Simons vector models, JHEP 02 (2013) 150 [arXiv:1211.1866] [INSPIRE].
- [14] S. Jain, S. Minwalla and S. Yokoyama, Chern Simons duality with a fundamental boson and fermion, JHEP 11 (2013) 037 [arXiv:1305.7235] [INSPIRE].
- [15] K. Inbasekar et al., Unitarity, crossing symmetry and duality in the scattering of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SUSY matter Chern-Simons theories, JHEP 10 (2015) 176 [arXiv:1505.06571] [INSPIRE].
- [16] S. Choudhury et al., Bose-Fermi Chern-Simons dualities in the Higgsed phase, JHEP 11 (2018) 177 [arXiv:1804.08635] [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Dey et al., Duality and an exact Landau-Ginzburg potential for quasi-bosonic Chern-Simons-Matter theories, JHEP 11 (2018) 020 [arXiv:1808.04415] [INSPIRE].
- [18] D. Gaiotto, Z. Komargodski and J. Wu, Curious Aspects of Three-Dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SCFTs, JHEP **08** (2018) 004 [arXiv:1804.02018] [INSPIRE].
- [19] M. Gremm and E. Katz, Mirror symmetry for N = 1 QED in three-dimensions, JHEP 02 (2000) 008 [hep-th/9906020] [INSPIRE].
- [20] J. Gomis, Z. Komargodski and N. Seiberg, Phases of adjoint QCD₃ and dualities, SciPost Phys. 5 (2018) 007 [arXiv:1710.03258] [INSPIRE].
- [21] V. Bashmakov, J. Gomis, Z. Komargodski and A. Sharon, Phases of N = 1 theories in 2 + 1 dimensions, JHEP 07 (2018) 123 [arXiv:1802.10130] [INSPIRE].

- [22] F. Benini and S. Benvenuti, $\mathcal{N} = 1$ dualities in 2 + 1 dimensions, JHEP 11 (2018) 197 [arXiv:1803.01784] [INSPIRE].
- [23] J. Eckhard, S. Schäfer-Nameki and J.-M. Wong, $An \mathcal{N} = 1$ 3d-3d correspondence, JHEP 07 (2018) 052 [arXiv:1804.02368] [INSPIRE].
- [24] F. Benini and S. Benvenuti, N = 1 QED in 2 + 1 dimensions: dualities and enhanced symmetries, arXiv:1804.05707 [INSPIRE].
- [25] C. Choi, M. Roček and A. Sharon, Dualities and phases of 3D N = 1 SQCD, JHEP 10 (2018) 105 [arXiv:1808.02184] [INSPIRE].
- [26] A. Dey, I. Halder, S. Jain, S. Minwalla and N. Prabhakar, The large N phase diagram of $\mathcal{N} = 2 \text{ SU}(N)$ Chern-Simons theory with one fundamental chiral multiplet, arXiv:1904.07286 [INSPIRE].
- [27] B.S. Acharya and C. Vafa, On domain walls of N = 1 supersymmetric Yang-Mills in four-dimensions, hep-th/0103011 [INSPIRE].
- [28] V. Bashmakov, F. Benini, S. Benvenuti and M. Bertolini, Living on the walls of super-QCD, SciPost Phys. 6 (2019) 044 [arXiv:1812.04645] [INSPIRE].
- [29] K. Inbasekar et al., Correlation functions in N = 2 supersymmetric Chern-Simons matter theories, unpublished.
- [30] J. Maldacena and A. Zhiboedov, Constraining conformal field theories with a slightly broken higher spin symmetry, Class. Quant. Grav. **30** (2013) 104003 [arXiv:1204.3882] [INSPIRE].
- [31] G.J. Turiaci and A. Zhiboedov, Veneziano amplitude of Vasiliev theory, JHEP 10 (2018) 034 [arXiv:1802.04390] [INSPIRE].
- [32] E.A. Ivanov, Chern-Simons matter systems with manifest N = 2 supersymmetry, Phys. Lett. B 268 (1991) 203 [INSPIRE].
- [33] J. Maldacena and A. Zhiboedov, Constraining conformal field theories with a higher spin symmetry, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214011 [arXiv:1112.1016] [INSPIRE].
- [34] L. Iliesiu et al., Fermion-scalar conformal blocks, JHEP 04 (2016) 074 [arXiv:1511.01497] [INSPIRE].
- [35] A. Bedhotiya and S. Prakash, A test of bosonization at the level of four-point functions in Chern-Simons vector models, JHEP 12 (2015) 032 [arXiv:1506.05412] [INSPIRE].
- [36] S. Caron-Huot, Analyticity in spin in conformal theories, JHEP 09 (2017) 078
 [arXiv:1703.00278] [INSPIRE].
- [37] D. Simmons-Duffin, D. Stanford and E. Witten, A spacetime derivation of the Lorentzian OPE inversion formula, JHEP 07 (2018) 085 [arXiv:1711.03816] [INSPIRE].
- [38] O. Aharony, L.F. Alday, A. Bissi and R. Yacoby, *The analytic bootstrap for large n Chern-Simons vector models*, *JHEP* 08 (2018) 166 [arXiv:1805.04377] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A.A. Nizami, T. Sharma and V. Umesh, Superspace formulation and correlation functions of 3d superconformal field theories, JHEP 07 (2014) 022 [arXiv:1308.4778] [INSPIRE].
- [40] S.J. Gates, M.T. Grisaru, M. Roček and W. Siegel, Superspace or one thousand and one lessons in supersymmetry, Front. Phys. 58 (1983) 1 [hep-th/0108200] [INSPIRE].
- [41] E. Witten, Supersymmetric index of three-dimensional gauge theory, hep-th/9903005 [INSPIRE].
- [42] E.I. Buchbinder, S.M. Kuzenko and I.B. Samsonov, Superconformal field theory in three dimensions: Correlation functions of conserved currents, JHEP 06 (2015) 138
 [arXiv:1503.04961] [INSPIRE].